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Registered office

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

Headquarter and principal place of business in PRC
Yangzhuang Station, Yangerzhuang Town, Huanghua
Cangzhou, Hebei Province, China

Principal place of business in Hong Kong
Room 09-10, 41/F

China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

Company’s website

http://www.czcgtl.com

Stock Code
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the
following meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“AGM”

“Articles of
Association”

“associate”

“Audit Committee”
“Board”

“Canggang BVI”

“Canggang
Company”

“Canggang HK”

“Canggang
Railway Line”

“Chengyu
Company”

“CG Code” or
“COdeH

the annual general meeting of the Company

the articles of association of the Company
adopted by the written resolution of the
Shareholders on 16 June 2020 and as
amended, supplemented and otherwise
modified from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

the audit committee of the Company
the board of directors of the Company

Canggang Railway International Company
Limited (REEKEEKRER~AR), a limited
liability company incorporated under the laws
of the BVI on 29 October 2018 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

Cangzhou Canggang Railway Co., Ltd.* (&
MEBHEMEMRDT) (previously known as
Huanghua Jinghai Logistics Co., Ltd. (EH#xX
BYRARRAT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 22
October 2009 and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of our Company

Canggang Railway (Hong Kong) Limited (&8
L (EB)BRQF), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 5 December
2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

a local freight railway line in Cangzhou,
Hebei Province, which connects Cangzhou
and Bohai New Area which contains Port
Huanghua, from Cangzhou Station (B8 ¥f) to
Gangkou Station (& O u)

Chengyu Railway Co., Ltd.* (BAMmEEFH
WAEREMEAT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
22 November 2004 which is 97.5% indirectly
owned by Mr. Liu Yongliang and 2.5% owned
by Mr. Yi. Weiming

corporate governance code contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
BERLkAR

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China excluding [HE ] ¥ HEARHENEE

“Company”

“Director(s)”

“Greenport BVI”

“Group”, “our

Group”, “we”
or “us”

“HK$” and “HK
cents”

“Hong Kong”

“Jinghai BVI”

“Jinghai
International”

“Listing”

“Listing Date”

for the purposes of this annual report only,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China and
Taiwan

Canggang Railway Limited (RE#EKEAERA
A]) (stock code: 2169), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 19 October 2018

the director(s) of the Company

Greenport Railway Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 12 October 2018 and wholly owned by
Mr. Yi

the Company and its subsidiaries from time
to time, or where the context so requires in
respect of the period before the Company
became the holding company of our present
subsidiaries, the entities which carried on the
business of the present Group at the relevant
time

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the
lawful currency of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC

Jinghai Group Investment Limited (g%
E#REHEBRDQT), a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on
October 12, 2018 and wholly owned by Mr.
Liu

Hebei Jinghai International Logistics
Development Co., Ltd.* (Wit ZEEBEYR
BRAEMDT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
July 20, 2017 which is owned as to 51% by
our Company and 49% by Tianjin Xinlian
International Shipping Agency Co., Ltd.* (X
REBHEREENREBRATFE), an Independent
Third Party

the Shares were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange

23 October 2020, since which the Shares of
the Company have been listed on the Stock
Exchange
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“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”

“Prospectus”

“Puiji Global”

“Puji HK”

“Reporting Period”

“RMB”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

“subsidiary(ies)”

“WFOE”

u%u

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

the stock exchange (excluding the option
market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in
parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

the model code for securities transactions
by directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

the prospectus of the Company dated 12
October 2020

Puji Global Limited (ZEERIRER AT, a
limited liability company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI on 18 October 2018 which
is wholly-owned by the Company

Puji Railway Global Holdings Limited (&

S IRIRIRIZRBRAF), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on 28
December 2018 which is wholly-owned by Puji
Global

the year ended 31 December 2020

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company

the shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
has the meaning ascribed to it in sections 15
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

Cangzhou Railway Logistics Services
Company Limited* (EMEEYWRERAE), a
limited liability company established under he

laws of the PRC on 14 February 2019 which is
wholly owned by Canggang HK
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

Liu Yongliang
8Kk 5
Chairman

EE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

2020 was a challenging year for the Company. At the beginning of
the year, the sudden outbreak of COVID began to spread across
the country. Our management team maintained a high level of
vigilance and actively implemented various prevention and control
arrangements and measures in accordance with the requirements
of local governments at all levels. We focus on the guidance of
Xi Jinping Thought on Socialism with Chinese Characteristics for
a New Era (“hEIHEHEEEEE4”). The company thoroughly
implements the spirit of our management team, coordinates
epidemic prevention and control, adheres to market-oriented,
innovation-driven, actively develops markets, and strives to improve
service quality.

Despite the volatile market environment, we were exhilarated by
the successful listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
in 2020 and it has cemented a solid foundation for our Group’s
development. We were also exploring in trading of construction
materials, particularly gravel. We believe this new arrangement will
also help us secure additional demand for our railway transportation
services.

The consumption of the China markets in 2020 have been adversely
affected by the outbreak of the COVID-19. Since March 2020, due
to the impact of the outbreak, the enterprises in Hebei Province
were seriously under-operation, and coal transportation volume
fell sharply; on the other hand, the country implemented a free
high-speed policy from February 2020 to May 2020, and road
transportation brought fierce competition to our rail transportation
business. To this end, we promote our non-coal cargo railway
transportation business in order to ensure that the Company is
able to generate stable income from its main railway transportation
business.
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We continue to execute our strategic plan and working closely
with our stakeholders to enhance our transportation services
in Cangzhou. We stick to the Announcement on Adjusting
Transportation Structure in Three Years (BIF5Ft¥tAEERINENZSHE
EEREEAR = ETETE2018-2020/9B 4) issued by the State
Council, for the purpose of protecting the environment, to increase
the volume of bulk cargo transported by rail freight and by sea. Our
unique position in rail transportation is more important under such
policy. We gradually increased our transportation of ore after the
Jinghai Ore Freight Yard completed and was put into production;
and we also formulated the development of our transportation of
gravel business.

We continue to hold different opportunities in the market and were
able to achieve admirable result. Our management team’s extensive
experience and deep knowledge in the transportation and logistics
industry has helped us identify and secure business opportunities
in the rail freight transportation market and is essential to the
continued development of our business.

Please refer to the “Business Review” section of this annual report
for the details of the Group’s performance and market initiatives in
2020.

Rail freight transportation as our core business has recorded a
good performance during the Reporting Period. We have completed
transportation of 16.9 million tonnes of cargo for the year ended
31 December 2020 compared to 16.1 million tonnes of cargo for
the year ended 31 December 2019 with an increase of 5.1% or 0.8
million tonnes.

Total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 was RMB361.5
million, decreased by 4.1% year-on-year from RMB376.9 million in
2019. Despite the decrease in revenue from our ancillary services
by 14.4%, which was mainly due to the significant drop in our
construction income because the construction projects are delayed
under the outbreak of COVID-19, our rail freight transportation
services remained constant at RMB260.6 million compared to
2019 at RMB259.1 million. The Group’s net profit amounted to
approximately RMB64.6 million, representing a decrease of 7.1%
compared to that of the year ended 31 December 2019 which was
mainly due to the drop in our construction income, partially offset
by the reduction of the operating expenses under the effective
management policy. Should the listing expenses be excluded, our
profit for the year would be RMB78.5 million, representing a slightly
decrease of 1.5% or RMB1.2 million compared to RMB79.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board did not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

We will keep our promise during the global offering of the Shares
to strengthen our market position by construction of additional
branch lines and new Special Service Lines connecting directly
to the factories and premises; and improving our technology for
more efficiency and safety transportation. | believe our business
strategies will unswervingly lead the Company to ride out the haze
of the outbreak. At the same time, | have great confidence that our
people will maintain their professionalism to perform our services to
keep our Company moving forward.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincerest appreciation
to the management team and all fellow colleagues for their
extraordinary commitment and cohesive teamwork. They are one of
our most valuable assets contributing to our success.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my deepest gratitude to all of our Shareholders, customers
and other valued stakeholders for their unwavering support. We are
fully committed to upholding our position in Cangzhou as one of the
top enterprise and striving for excellence and creating value for our
stakeholders.

Liu Yongliang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is an established and expanding local railway operator
based in Hebei Province. During the Reporting Period, we listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. With our Canggang Railway
Line, we continued to provide our customers with comprehensive
services and one-stop solutions of our freight transportation,
extended our leading position in rail freight transportation business
and continued to maintain our leading market position in Hebei
Province. We are preparing to further expand our railway to enhance
our services to our existing customers and to seek potential
customers.

2020 was a challenging year for our Group, the outbreak of
COVID-19 has impacted China’s economy and is having a huge
negative effect on consumption. On 23 February 2020, the head
of the Coal Department of the National Energy Administration
announced that as a result of the measures taken by the
government, the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on coal
production has been limited and the level of coal production has
resumed to a similar level as compared to the previous year.

Despite the decrease in revenue from our ancillary services
by 14.4% in 2020 as compared with 2019, which was mainly
due to the significant drop in our construction income because
the construction projects were delayed under the outbreak of
COVID-19, revenue from our rail freight transportation services
remained stable at RMB260.6 million (2019: RMB259.1 million).

Our Directors are of the view that the hygiene measures adopted
by our Group can effectively prevent and control the COVID-19
infections, and safeguard the occupational health and safety of
our employees. To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, during
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, none of our
employees had been infected with COVID-19.

Our Directors considered that, like any other disaster, the outbreak
is likely to be temporary and when it is over, the economic in
China will return to normal as the general course. Our Directors will
continue to closely monitor the effect of the outbreak and evaluate
the impact to our business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

As at 31 December 2020, we operated one local railway, the
Canggang Railway Line. One of our business strategies is to
construct additional branch lines to expand our business scale,
including expanding our geographic presence and business to the
Northern Shandong Industrial Park and Comprehensive Industrial
Park in Bohai New Area. However in the midst of COVID-19,
particularly the recent outbreak in Hebei Province in January 2021,
our Directors expected to begin the construction of the new branch
lines in the second half year of 2021.

We are also in the process of upgrading and renovating the basic
infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line to enhance the safety
and increase the overall capacity of railway operation (all of which
are anticipated to be completed in the first half year of 2022).
To kick off our upgrade, we invested RMB 2.2 million during the
Reporting Period.

B E2020F12H31H ' XA A &E —Fib 75
g MABG - RMEP—BEBRKIE
EFESHTHUBREREE  BESRMAN
BEEHENEREREE L TE£ENDEN
BHEEEXERE - A ARIEECOVID-19
BB (RE 2N ER2021E1 B HBRIE
) BEEWEHYENERIEER20215F
THERBBT -

BMTEEARRBHABRNEBEER - U
REeEREBENZ2ERZERNEELN M
BEEBEIRESHR2022F L¥XFRT - AR
MARTRE  RAINBESHANETRAARK2.2
BB

Revenue =
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BHILEE
2020 2019
2020F 20194
RMB in thousands, other than percentages
ARKTFT  BAEERI
Rail freight transportation HEEE 260,585 72.1% 259,065 68.8%
Ancillary services B AR
Loading and unloading i 59,814 16.5% 65,654 17.4%
Road freight transportation BREE 30,305 8.4% 32,530 8.6%
Construction, maintenance and repair 2% REREEL 5,358 1.5% 15,525 41%
Others Hith 5,412 1.5% 4,130 1.2%
Subtotal NET 100,889 27.9% 117,839 31.2%
Total et 361,474 100.0% 376,904 100.0%

Our revenue decreased by 4.1% or RMB15.4 million from RMB376.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to RMB361.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020, primarily due to a decrease
in revenue from ancillary businesses of RMB17.0 million primarily
relating to the decrease in revenue from construction, maintenance
and repair business of RMB10.2 million and the decrease in revenue
from loading and unloading business of RMB5.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue from rail freight transportation remained relatively stable
at RMB259.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
and RMB260.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Revenue from rail freight transportation of coal decreased by
5.6% or RMB10.7 million which was offset by an increase in our
transportation of other product such as asphalt and gravel of
RMB11.0 million.

Revenue from our loading and unloading business decreased
by 8.9% or RMB5.8 million. The decrease was largely related to
our loading and unloading services accompanied with our freight
transportation services for coal.

Revenue from our road transportation decreased by 6.8% or
RMB2.2 million. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in
the number of our customers during the year.

Revenue from our construction, maintenance and repair business
decreased by 65.5% or RMB10.2 million. The decrease was
primarily due to no major construction work was engaged as the
construction projects were delayed under the outbreak of COVID-19
during the Reporting Period.

Revenue from others increased by 31.0% or RMB1.3 million. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in provision of scattering
prevention of services.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses include staff costs, outsourcing service
charges and other labor costs, cargo logistics, depreciation,
fuel used, repair and maintenance, general and administration
expenses, impairment loss on trade receivables and other expenses.
The operating expenses decreased by 4.9% or RMB12.7 million
from RMB260.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
to RMB247.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
decrease was primarily due to the drop from our staff cost by
16.2% or RMB10.3 million under the favourable government policy
during the outbreak of COVID-19 and the drop from our cargo
logistics expenses by 18.2% or RMB7.1 million as the cargo
logistics charges for non-coal cargo under Shuo-Huang Railway
was temporarily waived during the outbreak of COVID-19; which
was partially offset by the increase in our general and administration
expenses by 12.9% or RMB2.9 million in relation to the global
offering of the Shares and the increase in impairment loss on trade
receivable, as discussed in the following paragraph, during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

During the COVID-19, we noted that a longer settlement period
may be needed for some of our customers. We have received
notification of requests for delay in settlement of trade receivables
from some of our major customers as a result of the outbreak. Due
to the disruption to the PRC economy caused by the COVID-19
outbreak, as to improve our liquidity, we seek to maintain strict
control over outstanding receivables and our senior management
regularly reviews overdue balance to reduce our credit risk.
Our trade and bills receivables dropped by 28.4% or RMB38.3
million from RMB134.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 to RMB96.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Nevertheless, the impairment loss on trade receivables was
increased by 507.6% or RMB3.0 million from RMBO0.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 to RMB3.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 as the trade receivables were in general aged
longer due to the outbreak of COVID-19.

Other income

Our other income increased by 16.2%, or RMBO0.4 million from
RMB2.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to RMBS3.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2020, primarily due to the
government grants received in related to the global offering of the
Shares.

Segment result and segment margin

For our rail freight transportation, the segment result was RMB117.5
million and RMB132.4 million and the segment margin 45.4%
and 50.8%, for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
respectively. The increase in segment margin was primarily due to
the decrease in staff costs and cargo logistic costs as a result of
special supportive government policy and our supplier’s supporting
in relation to the COVID-19 outbreak.

For our ancillary businesses, the segment result was RMB22.2
million and RMB10.5 million and the segment margin was 18.8%
and 10.4%, for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020,
respectively. The decrease in segment margin was primarily due
to no major construction works was commenced during the year,
which is more profitable than our other ancillary businesses.

Finance costs

Our finance costs increased by 5.6%, or RMB1.4 million from
RMB24.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to RMB26.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2020, primarily due to an
increase in our average monthly loan balance.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense remained relatively stable at RMB24.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 and RMB25.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. Our effective tax rate
increased from 26.3% for the year ended 31 December 2019 to
28.1% for the year ended 31 December 2020 primarily due to the
increase in non-deductible listing expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the year and net profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year decreased by
7.1% or RMB4.9 million from RMB69.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 to RMB64.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. Our net profit margin decreased from 18.4% for
the year ended 31 December 2019 to 17.9% for the year ended
31 December 2020. Should the listing expenses be excluded, our
profit for the year would be RMB78.5 million, representing a slightly
decrease of 1.5% or RMB1.2 million compared to RMB79.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB130.0 million (2019: net current liabilities of
approximately RMB212.2 million). The Group continued to maintain
a strong financial position with cash and cash equivalent of
approximately RMB227.1 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB33.9 million). During the Reporting Period, we received net
proceeds from the Listing of approximately HK$229.7 million. With
our steady cash generated from operations, we have adequate
financial resources to meet our working capital needs as well as
to fund our budgeted construction and upgrade plans in 2021 and
2022.

As at 31 December 2020, our interest-bearing borrowings were
RMB455.2 million, of which RMB337.2 million was long-term
borrowing. We had unutilized and unrestricted banking facilities of
RMB49.5 million, none of which were guaranteed or secured by our
related parties.

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total debt (being
bank and other loans) by total equity as at the end date of the
respective year then multiplying by 100%, was approximately
59.2% as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 108.0%). The decrease was
mainly attributed to the increase in equity after the Listing.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2020, certain of our property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of approximately RMB8.3
million (2019: RMB8.6 million), were pledged for our bank loans.
Also, our property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
approximately RMB138.3 million (2019: RMB148.8 million) secured
our other loans.

As at 31 December 2020, a certain portion of our right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of approximately RMB119.3 million (2019:
RMB91.1 million) were pledged for our bank loans and our right-of-
use assets with carrying amount of approximately RMB7.1 million
(2019: RMB7.3 million) secured our other loans.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

Funding and Treasury Policy

The Group maintain an optimal financial position and minimise its
financial risks in all the business decisions. The Group regularly
reviews the cash position to ensure there are sufficient funds to
support its business operations and future investments as and when
needed.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operated primarily in the PRC and are denominated in
RMB. It is expected that the Group will not be subjected to any
material adverse effects arising from exchange rate fluctuation.
Nevertheless, the Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange
exposure and will take appropriate action when needed.

Capital Expenditure

Our capital expenditures during the Reporting Period were mainly
related to our purchases of locomotives and rolling stocks for our
operations. We financed our capital expenditure through cash
generated from operations and banking facilities.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, our outstanding capital commitments
in respect of property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB7.7 million (2019: RMBO0.1 million), details
are disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements. Save as
disclosed in this report, we did not have any other material capital
commitment.

Save as disclosed in this report and the Prospectus, there were
no significant investments held by the Group during the Reporting
Period, nor was there any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture during the Reporting
Period. Save as disclosed in this report and the Prospectus, there
was no other plan for significant investments or additions of capital
assets as at 31 December 2020.

Save for the issue of new shares in the Listing, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group did not have any material subsequent event after 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this report.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 787 employees (2019: 788
employees) (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors).

The Group offers attractive remuneration package to the employees
as our Directors believe the consistency and quality of our staff is
the key to success. In order to retain our staff and motivate them
for better performance, the remuneration packages, including
basic salary and other employee benefits such as bonus, are
reviewed annually according to their individual performance. We
are also committed to provide a caring environment to retain our
staff and for better performance. We provided sufficient trainings
and encouraged our staff to attend other courses to maintain their
professionalism and qualifications.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EESEREGREEE

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yongliang (217k %), aged 54

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Liu, the founder of our Group, was appointed as a Director
on 19 October 2018 and designated as an executive Director on
20 September 2019. He was appointed as the chairman on 25
September 2019. Mr. Liu is currently the director of each of our
Company’s subsidiaries (except Jinghai International), namely,
Canggang BVI, Puji Global, Canggang HK, Puji HK, Canggang
Company and WFOE. He has been the chairman of the board of
directors of Canggang Company since October 2009 and he is
responsible for overall management and strategic development
of our Group. Mr. Liu has more than 13 years of experience in
transportation services. Prior to founding our Group in 2009, Mr. Liu
also invested in various industries including coal trading, industrial
property investment and storage and transportation.

Mr. Liu graduated from Naval Engineering University, Tianjin
Campus* (BEIRKEBXERE) (formerly known as People’s
Liberation Army Navy, Logistics College* (TEIARBHEEE
%HER)) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1991 where he completed
his tertiary education in financial management. He obtained his
bachelor’s degree in economic management from the Open College
of Central Communist Party School* (PHARBREFER) in
Beijing, the PRC in December 1995. He graduated from Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences* (FEI*t&RIZP%) in Beijing, the PRC
in October 1999 where he completed his postgraduate education
in finance. Mr. Liu attended the Post Executive Master of Business
Administration courses at Peking University in Beijing, the PRC from
April 2012 to January 2014.

Mr. Yi Weiming (X #8d), aged 56

Executive Director and chief executive officer

Mr. Yi was appointed as an executive Director and chief executive
officer of our Company on 20 September 2019 and 25 September
2019, respectively. Mr. Yi has more than 11 years of experience in
transportation services and nine years of experience in investment
management. He has been a director and a general manager of
Canggang Company since October 2009 and he is responsible for
the overall operation and management of our Group.

Mr. Yi obtained his bachelor degree in science and economics from
Nankai University (B KZ) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1987. Mr. Yi
also obtained his master’s degree and doctoral degree in economics
from Nankai University (F@B3KZ) in Tianjin, the PRC in June 1990
and June 1995, respectively.

Mr. Yi served at Department of International Economics at Nankai
University (R8BI KX2) from September 1990 to June 1998 and was
appointed as the deputy professor in 1996, primarily teaching
courses such as international economics and responsible for
relevant academic research. He was then engaged in the financial
industry between June 1998 and November 2007 where he was
primarily engaged in business of investment management in the
PRC.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhihua (#&E2£) (with former name as Xu Zhihua (&5 %)),
aged 69

Mr. Xu was appointed as a non-executive Director of our
Company on 20 September 2019. Mr. Xu has more than 12 years
of experience in railway transportation and logistics services.
Mr. Xu has been an executive director of Chengyu Company
since November 2007. He is responsible for providing opinion and
judgment to our Board.

Mr. Xu graduated from Jilin University (FMAXZ) in Jilin Province,
the PRC with a junior college degree in political science in October
1988. Mr. Xu was awarded as the ‘‘Labor Model of the Logistics
Industry in China (ZBI¥)/RITH% EN#E &)’ by Human Resources
and Social Security Department (A NWERFMHLEREL) and China
Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (TE#RERBEESE) in
December 2011.

Mr. Qin Shaobo (£4'18), aged 38

Mr. Qin was appointed as a non-executive Director of our Company
on 20 September 2019. Mr. Qin has more than seven years of
experience in investment management. Mr. Qin has been a director
of Canggang Company since May 2016. He is responsible for
providing opinion and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Qin graduated from China University of Political Science and
Law* (FEBUAKE) in Beijing, the PRC with a master’s degree
in law in June 2007. Mr. Qin obtained his legal professional
qualification certificate* (A& E K E Z) issued by China Ministry
of Justice of the PRC in February 2009.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Changchun (2| R %) (“Mr. CC Liu”), aged 62

Mr. CC Liu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 20 September 2019. Mr. CC Liu has more
than 21 years experiences in energy industry. He is responsible for
overseeing management independently and providing independent
advice to our Board.

Mr. CC Liu graduated from the Harbin Normal University* (%278
JEEMEI KXZ) in Heilongjiang Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s
degree in Chinese language and literature education in December
1999 (through long distance learning). Mr. CC Liu completed
a postgraduate course in corporate management from Capital
University of Economics and Business (B #8#& % & 5 KX £) in Beijing,
the PRC in November 2002. Mr. CC Liu received the certificate of
senior economist in February 2004 from the General Equipment
Department of the People’s Liberation Army (FEIARBHEARE
=)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EESEREGREEE

Mr. Zhao Changsong (i K #2), aged 55

Mr. Zhao was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 20 September 2019. Mr. Zhao has more than
29 years experiences in legal services and he is responsible for
overseeing management independently and providing independent
advice to our Board.

Mr. Zhao graduated from Hebei University* (ATdb KE) in Hebei
Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in July 1986.
Mr. Zhao completed his master’s course in economic management
from Hebei Party School of China Communist Party* (FR&5Adt&
ZER) in Hebei Province, the PRC in December 2001. Mr. Zhao
obtained his lawyer qualification certificate (ZENEHKEFZE) from
Hebei Provincial Department of Justice (Aldt#& &)5%E8) in April 1989.

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (2 &%), aged 46

Ms. Lyu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 20 September 2019. Ms. Lyu has more than 25
years experiences in accounting and auditing. She is responsible for
overseeing management independently and providing independent
advice to our Board.

Ms. Lyu graduated from the Hebei Economic and Trade College*
(At A&ZZ ZEEx) in Hebei Province, the PRC where she completed
a tertiary course in finance and accounting in July 1994. Ms. Lyu
obtained the accounting qualification (intermediate level) (FRE
&) from the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 2002 and the
certificate of Certified Public Accountant from Hebei Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 2009.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kwok Che Chung (382 §4), aged 35

Chief Financial Officer and joint company secretary

Mr. Kwok joined the Group in August 2019 as chief financial officer
of our Company and was appointed as the joint company secretary
of our Company on 25 September 2019. Mr. Kwok has more than
ten years of experience in accounting and financial management.
He is responsible for financial operations and corporate secretarial
matters of the Group.

Mr. Kwok graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan University (&
7B#I{=KE) in Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in
July 2009. Mr. Kwok was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in March 2017.

Mr. Li Juncheng (= £), aged 39

Joint company secretary

Mr. Li was appointed as our joint company secretary on 25
September 2019.

Mr. Li joined the Group in December 2014 as the deputy director
of the finance department of Canggang Company. He was then
promoted as the director of equity investment department in July
2019. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li was employed by Chengyu
Company from February 2008 to December 2014, and last occupied
the position of deputy head of the finance department. Mr. Li
graduated from Hebei University (AT3t X22) in Hebei Province, the
PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in June 2007.
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Since the Listing of our Shares on the Stock Exchange on 23
October 2020, the Company has been committed to maintaining
high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that
good corporate governance is the basis in ensuring the proper
management in the interest of all our stakeholders. Improvement
of the corporate governance is a long and systematic project,
which requires strong commitment and perseverance. As it always
has, the Company will continuously improve the risk assessment
and monitoring procedures, internal control policy, enhancing our
transparency and disclosures quality to our shareholders to promote
the sustainable and robust development of the Company in light
of evolving business and regulatory environment and to meet the
expectations of stakeholders.

This Report possess the corporate governance best practices that
the Company has adopted and highlights how the Company has
applied the principles of the Code Provisions set out in the CG
Code.

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2020, the Company
complied the Code except for code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code
which provides that the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other directors. As the Company was listed in October
2020, the independent non-executive directors did not have any
matters that need to be discussed with the Chairman during the
short period of time after listing. The Directors will continue to
monitor the Company’s corporate governance policies and will
make update, if necessary, to ensure the policies comply with the
Code. For the year ending 31 December 2021, the Company will
comply with code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). After having made specific
enquiry, the Company confirms that all the Directors have complied
with the Model Code since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report.
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Overall Management

Our Board is responsible for and has general power over the
management and conduct of our business. The powers and duties
of our Board are conferred by our Articles of Association. The Board
has delegated the day-to-day management and operations of the
Company’s business to the management, and focuses its attention
on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic policies,
corporate governance, finances and shareholders. These include
review of the annual financial budgets, financial statements and
the significant changes in accounting policy, corporate governance
functions, dividend policy, risk management and internal control
systems and draw up strategies for future growth and major
investments.

After the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board held one board meeting to review the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, consider the payment
of a final dividend and convene the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The Board has delegated the responsibilities as set out in
their respective terms of reference to the three Board Committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Composition of the Board

A list of members of the Board and their roles and functions is
available on the respective websites of the Company (http://www.
czcgtl.com) and the Stock Exchange. The Board currently consists
of seven Directors with the following composition:

INEDs, 3
B IERAT
EE 3%

Executive Directors (“ED”)
Mr. Liu Yongliang (Chairman of Nomination Committee)
Mr. Yi Weiming (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors (“NED”)
Mr. Xu Zhihua
Mr. Qin Shaobo

Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)

Mr. Liu Changchun (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhao Changsong

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (Chairman of Audit Committee)
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The Board currently has seven Members, made up of three INEDs,
two NEDs and two EDs. As shown in the above chart, the number of
INEDs currently comprises more than one-third of the Board, which
is above the Listing Rules 3.10A requirement. During the Reporting
Period, the Board has met at all times the requirements under rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the Directors of the
are set out on pages 18 to 21 of this annual report. None of the
Board members have financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other Board members. In addition,
none of the Board member holds seven (or more) directorships
in listed companies (including the Company) or holds any cross
directorships for the year ended 31 December 2020.

There is a diverse business and professional backgrounds for
the Board, whose members actively bring their experience for
promoting the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.
The INEDs also ensure the Board considered the interest of the
shareholder of the Company in considering the business objective
of the Company and a high standard of regulatory reporting. Since
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, the Board
at all time has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three INEDs and one of whom possess
of appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The composition of the Board
emphasis the decisions reached are balance and independent.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has received
a written confirmation from each of the INEDs to confirm his/her
independence and his/her immediate family member(s) in light of
the requirements under the Listing Rule. The Nomination Committee
reviewed the confirmations and assessed the independence of the
INEDs and consider each of them to be independent.

Board meetings

The Company planned four Board meetings at approximately
quarterly intervals to discuss the Company’s operations. Additional
meetings will be arranged if and when required. Each Board
member ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and attention
to the Company’s development and contribute to the Company’s
strategies and financial performance through constructive
comments. Subsequent to the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report, the Board held a meeting to review and approve
the annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2020 with considering the level of final dividend and convene the
forthcoming AGM.

The Joint Company Secretaries (as defined below) ensure the
procedures for holding the Board meetings are complied with all
applicable rules and regulations and they keep the board minutes
for Directors’ inspection with unrestricted access rights, and have
the liberty to seek external professional advice upon reasonable
request.
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The attendance record of the Members of the Board at meetings
(subsequent to the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report)

TRERRE

EEEHENERHELE
(RETHMERBEXAFHRAH)

Attendance/Number of meetings

hE/ RNy
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee meeting
Ezesd EREEE yMzEe REZEE RRAE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Liu Yongliang YxE%xE 2/2 - - 11 -
Mr. Yi Weiming RAEREE 22 - - - -
Non-executive Directors FHUTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua BEELE 22 2/2 11 11 -
Mr. Qin Shaobo FOBEE 2/2 - - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BV FHITES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARERE 22 22 1/1 1 -
Mr. Zhao Changsong BRALE 2/2 - - - -
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BREELL 2/2 2/2 1/1 - -
The Board is responsible for maintaining a continuous EZESEFTHRIRBEEBE(ERIREBE

communication with the shareholders, in particular through the
AGMs or other general meetings, and encourages shareholders to
participate. No AGMs was held during the year ended 31 December
2020.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The posts of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are
distinct and separate.

Mr. Liu Yongliang is the chairman of our Board who is responsible
for chairing and managing the operations of the Board, ensuring
adequate information is provided to the Board on a timely basis,
encouraging Members of the Board to make effective contribution
in the Board meetings, monitoring the performance of the chief
executive officer and establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures.

Mr. Yi Weiming is the chief executive officer of our Company
who is responsible for the overall administrative and operational
management of the Company, implementation of annual business
plans, investment proposal of the Company and responsible for
performing a bridging function between the Board and the senior
management.
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The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy provides that
the Company should endeavor to ensure that the Board members
have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that are required to support the execution of the
Company’s business strategy. Pursuant to the Board Diversity
Policy, selection of candidates for Directors will be based in a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to professional
experience, gender, age, culture, independence, educational
background, knowledge, expertise and length of service. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and
the contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board believes that such merit-based appointments
will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.

The Board will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity
at all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and the senior management levels. While the gender diversity
at the Board level can be improved given the majority of the
Directors are male, the Board will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole. The Board would also ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to investors’
expectation, and international and local recommended best
practices.

GENDER
ezl

DESIGNATION

H Male W Female W INED W NED
Fit it BUIERITES FHITES
W ED
WiTES
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The Board reviews the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis
to ensure its continued effectiveness. Subsequent to the Listing
Date and up to the date of this report, the Board consider the
composition of the Board is in line with the Board Diversity Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy is appropriate.

Our Nomination Committee will: (1) report annually, in the corporate
governance report contained in our annual report, on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy; and (2) review our
Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure effectiveness of
the policy and discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 16 June 2020 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise our financial reporting process and internal control system
of the Group, oversee the audit process, risk management process
and external audit functions. The Audit Committee consists of three
members, namely, Ms. Lyu Qinghua, Mr. Xu Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu.
The chairman of the Audit Committee is Ms. Lyu Qinghua. None
of the Audit Committee members are employed by or otherwise
affiliated with the auditor of the Company.

Subsequent to the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Audit Committee held one meeting with 100%
attendance. During the meeting, the Audit Committee completed the
following:

Internal Audit and Governance
—  Approved revisions to the Group Internal Audit Charter

— Approved the internal audit plan for 2020 to 2022

- Reviewed the efficient and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control systems and its internal audit functions

- Reviewed the continuing connected transactions

External Auditor and Financial Reporting
- Reviewed and approved KPMG’s fee proposal for the 2020
annual audit

—  Reviewed the Company’s annual financial results

- Reviewed changes in accounting principles and practices
proposed by management

- Reviewed, with both the external auditor and management, the
audit approach and methodology applied, in particular to the
Key Audit Matters, for 2020 annual audit

The Audit Committee was satisfied with KPMG’s work, its
independence, and its objectivity, and therefore recommended the
re-appointment of KPMG (which has indicated its willingness to
continue in office) as the Company’s external auditor for 2021 for
Shareholders’ approval at the 2020 AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 16 June 2020
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on our Company’s
policy and structure concerning the remuneration of our Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy, review
and approve performance based remuneration by reference to
their duties and responsibilities, performance, corporate goals and
objectives, to determine the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each executive Director and senior management and
to ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely
Ms. Lyu Qinghua, Mr. CC Liu and Mr. Xu Zhihua. The chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Mr. CC Liu.

Subsequent to the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Audit Committee held one meeting with 100%
attendance. During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages of the EDs, NEDs and INEDs
with reference to their responsibilities, workload and performance
since the Listing of the Company.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Company (other
than Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2020, by band is
set out below:

N E

Remuneration Band

FHEES

HMEZEESC MN2020F6 16 H R WiR{E
EHRAIM T HAEMNTRIRCEERRE
HEHZMBESEE FHNEZESNZTERS
ARARTANESL SR EEBHFNBERERE
BURBEHEFHNRREL LR R ERANE
FREESSREES RN ESZHERE
MEBE KRB QAR EEEENRER
HHEH EESUTESNSRAETEEBNER
FARGR ITRRUMEEEECHBEASF
B FNEESH=RREALARK  IRBFEL
T HAREAERGESELLE -FWHEESE
EABARERE -

RETHHERBERNFRAY  FREES
BE{T-AER 2RHEEHEHE -RER
HE - FHEESCSEHTES  FUTE
ERBYFHTEAARRT LHUARNBE
THEERKRR  FHARSNHFMNEE -

BZE2020F12A31BHIELEEARAR T SREERE
REBEENHFMNERIINT :

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to RMB1,000,000 Z % AR¥1,000,0007T

2

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 16 June 2020
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review our Board Diversity Policy
and make recommendations to our Board on the appointment of
members of the Board. The Nomination Committee consists of
three members, namely, Mr. Liu, Mr. Xu Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu. The
chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Liu.

Subsequent to the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee held one meeting with 100%
attendance. During the meeting, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the independence of the NEDs and INEDs and has also
conducted an annual review of the current structure, size, skillset
and composition of the Board and considered remaining the same
composition is appropriate in light of the Company’s strategy.
The Nomination Committee recommended for the re-election of
Members of the Board retiring at the 2020 AGM.
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The Nomination Committee concluded the Board currently
possesses of a balanced skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives and is appropriate for continuing to support the
execution of the Company’s business strategies in an efficient and
effective manner.

The Nomination Policy document the procedures and practices
approved by the Board applicable to both new appointments and
re-appointment in accordance with the Articles of Association. The
Board has delegated the authority to the Nomination Committee to
identify and assess potential candidates who are eligible to become
a member of the Board. To identify the suitable candidates, the
Nomination Committee will consider the Company’s strategy; the
structure, size, composition and needs of the Board; the required
skills, qualification and experience of the candidates; and the
independence of the candidate who is proposed to be the INED
of the Board. The Nomination Committee is vested with discretion
to take into account such other factors that it may consider
appropriate.

In relation to the appointments of the Directors, the Nomination
Committee will first identify the biographical information and other
information of the candidate. The Nomination Committee will review
the information obtained from the candidate and seek clarification.
Then, the Nomination Committee, at its discretion, invite the
candidate to meet with the Nomination Committee members for the
proposed nomination. The Nomination Committee will submit the
nomination proposal to the Board for consideration and further to
the shareholders for approval.

For the re-appointment of the Members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will review the profile of the Members
who have offered themselves for re-election to ensure their
suitability every year. Then, the Nomination Committee will make
recommendation to the Board for consideration and the Board will,
at its discretion, make recommendations to the shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will conduct the review on the member
of the Board on a regular basis, at least annually, to ensure the
Board possess a combination of expertise and diversity for the
business of the Company.

Mr. Kwok Che Chung and Mr. Li Juncheng take up the role of joint
company secretaries of the Company (“Joint Company Secretaries”)
to provide compliance and company secretarial services to the
Company. Their role as Joint Company Secretaries includes:

- Providing advice and services for the Board Members;

- Ensuring the Board procedures are followed;

— Advising the Board on all corporate governance matters; and

- Recommending and arranging the Board Members to attend
relevant seminars and courses.
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The Joint Company Secretaries assisted the Company to cope
with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different
commercial needs. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Joint Company Secretaries on corporate governance
and board practices and matters.

In 2020, both Joint Company Secretaries undertook over 15 hours
of professional training to update their skills and knowledge.

The Company engages KPMG as its External Auditor. There’s
no non-audit services engaged with KPMG. In order to maintain
KPMG'’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the Audit
Committee, reviewed and discussed with KPMG on their scope and
nature of the audit and reporting.

For maintaining integrity and objectivity as the External Auditor
of the Company, KPMG implements policies and procedures
that are consistent with the requirements of the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants and other applicable rules. These
requirements place limits on the number of years that partners in
certain roles may provide audit services to the Group, followed by
a “time-out” period during which these partners may not participate
in that audit or in any way influence the outcome of the audit, lead
or coordinate other professional services delivered to the client,
oversee the relationship of the Firm with the client, or have other
significant or frequent interaction with senior management of those
charge with governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the remunerations paid or
payable to KPMG in respect of its audit services are approximately
RMB1.26 million. There was no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the
external auditor during the year under review.

The rail freight and road freight transportation businesses are
inherently dangerous and there are accidents which may result
in fatalities and other serious bodily harm to our employees and
others. To uphold our reputation of being one of the best company
locally and in order to help ensure that the Company is responsible
to the crises in an organised and effective manner, the Company
has established the security department to manage the crisis. The
security department comprises of the senior management and
is closely monitored by the CEO. The operation of the security
department is also aided by the Company’s information system to
keep track of the latest crisis situation, issues and strategic actions.
The duties of the security department include the followings:

(i) organize various safety activities and regular training sessions
to enhance safety awareness and relevant work skills of our
staff;

(i) strictly forbid staff who have not passed safety training and
assessment to work on our freight transportation;
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(iiiy arrange inspection of our freight transportation monthly to allow
each department to report any potential/existing deficiencies
during the operation of our business;

(iv) perform inspection of freight vehicles and facilities monthly to
identify and eliminate any defects which may result in safety
issues;

(v) arrange the freight transportation of flammable, explosive or
otherwise hazardous materials according to specified policies;

(vi) perform key inspection of dangerous goods and properly
document all such inspections; and

(vii) closely monitor flammable goods.

In order to manage the impacts on our businesses arising from the
crisis, the Company will set up a safety production committee to
take overall responsibility for safety production management, with
placing the safety of our staff and the public as the top priority. In
response to the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19)
in January 2020, the security department was activated to manage
its potential impacts on the Company’s operations.

According to the Code, all the Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development to update and refresh their
knowledge and skill to ensure their contribution to the Board
keep abreast of current trends and issues facing the Company.
Upon appointment to the Board, every Directors has received
a comprehensive induction training to ensure appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and operations as well as
their role and responsibilities.

To assist the Board members in continuing their professional
development, the Joint Company Secretaries recommend them to
attend relevant seminars and courses at the cost of the Company.
The Joint Company Secretaries also developed a comprehensive
and tailored training programme for the senior executive. The
programme consists of a series of seminars which are organised on
an on-going basis.

Each member of the Board has provided to the Company a record
of the training he/she has received during the year. The records
are maintained by the Joint Company Secretaries for annual review
by the Nomination Committee. During 2020, the Directors received
an aggregate of about 38.5 hours of training by attending or
participating in Board knowledge sessions, management briefings
and events such as conferences, seminars and workshops on
directors’ duties and other topics relevant to HKEX’s strategy and
business.

TRERRE

(il ZEHEARKEMNENERTHE  BS
EZBFISRE £ B ELBREPPWEIMEE,
RETEZE

vy BAMEEET ARRKINE - UBBRKEKR
FEZEZBENEWREE

(v) BREBEBRRZHZN  ZHFRIHMER
MmN EYESR ;

(i) Bty TEXELHEFTEEER
S5

(vii) BB SRS o

AEERHMEHERERNTE  NATKRIL
ZEHEZESTHAERTELEEETE  BR
EEIRARZERABERK - BEE2020
F1HBRE2019TEMHFEEH(COVID-19) » KD
ACREREZIAUAESECOVID-19% A A EE
R B -

RIETH - 2RESHASHATFEEERREU
BEHANEBTENBAREE  BERSEEEALD
AEHNENBEKRERE  RESSFLE
B MEZEMAERER BUESHRER
BSRE2EOAREI > BEYEDTNER
CENEBBNBEREETH -

RAHBHESERNERFBEEIEXERR  BELD
ANEERAREFEZZS MEBATNSRRE
BRBAQARE BEAAMERCHSH
THAEHEZERSAEMKAFIEE
BEFEEE -RISEERNANE -

BRESEREYCRARARMEREANCE
ZEVNRE - FECBSHRELIUER
FUMREZESSETFEER - M2020%F -
EFEBHENSHRESABZIREG - B
EBERErARESHENAMEBISE
BMEBEEIENSE BEANTESSE
B 2 HEZ N385 RKRIE -

REBHBERAT o 2020F FH 31



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRE

The Company adopts a dividend policy to reward the shareholders.
In determining the dividend, the Company reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a strong capital environment for
business operation at the same time considering the returns of
shareholder. The Board shall take into account the followings in
considering the dividend amount:

expected capital requirements;

-  expected profit level;

—  projected operating cash flows;

—  projected capital expenditures and investment projects; and
—  future business prospect and other financial conditions.

The Board did not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020. To the best knowledge of the Company,
as of the date of publication of this annual report, there are no
arrangements for shareholders to waive or agree to waive any
dividend for 2020.

The Directors recognize the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. The Company will comply with
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules and the associated Listing Rules.

The Board conducted a review of its Corporate Governance duties
in March 2021. Below is a summary of the work performed during
the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of the Report:

— Develop the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, including the corporate governance framework,
the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy and the Code;

— Review and monitor the continuous professional development
of the Members of the Board and senior management; and

- Review the Company’s policies and practices on the
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board considers the Company’s Corporate Governance
Functions are adequate and appropriate for the Company’s current
business strategy. They will continue to review the changes of legal
and regulatory environment and the business environment.
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The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and
made reasonable judgements, estimates and assumptions based
on historical experiences and various other factors, consistently
with previous financial periods, as disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true
and fair view. The responsibilities of the independent auditor of the
Company are set out on pages 54 to 59 of this annual report.

In supporting above, the finance division prepared the consolidated
financial statements for clearing with the External Auditor and
then the Audit Committee. Before the Company adopt any new
accounting policy and accounting standards, the possible impact
of amendments will be discussed and approved at the Audit
Committee.

The Company has developed a policy to handle and dissemination
of inside information, which include:

(i) the internal process for identifying and assessing inside
information to the Board;

(i) the senior management has to preserve the confidentiality
of inside information. They need to report to the Board
for any potential threat and bring down the message and
responsibilities to all employees; and

(i) the process for disclosure of inside information.

The Company will publish any inside information as soon as
practicable. If the Board believes that the Company cannot
maintain the confidentiality, the Board would immediately
disclose the information. The Board is committed to ensure all the
announcements are not false nor misleading. The Board considers
the Company’s policy and measures are effective and appropriate to
provide assurance on the obligations over the inside information.
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The Board believe that by communicating the Company’s business
strategies and future outlook to investors in a clear and transparent
manner proactively could help to enhances the shareholders’
value. As such, the Company promotes a business culture that
respect the shareholders and accountable to them. The Board
focuses to maintain a smooth and transparent communication
with shareholders to facilitate their understanding of the Group’s
performance and strategies.

The Company uses the AGM as the principal channels of
communication with its shareholders. It provides an opportunity
for shareholders to listen to the Directors about the Company’s
performance and operations directly. It has been the practice for the
CEO of the Company, the Chairman of the Board and the External
Auditor of the Company to attend AGMs to answer shareholders’
questions. The 2020 AGM has been scheduled on 24 May 2021 and
the Company is committed to make notice and available meeting
facilities, not less than 21 days before the date of AGM, to enable all
eligible attendees to be able to participate in the AGM.

Our Company website (http://www.czcgtl.com) provide investors
up-to-date and details information about the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information for the public access.

Shareholders to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holdings not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting in the general
meetings, at the date of deposit of the requisition, shall have the
right to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by sending a
written requisition to the Board or the Joint Company Secretaries
to the principal place of business in Hong Kong. The request must
state the reason and the details of the business to be transacted in
the meeting. When the requisition is found to be proper, the Joint
Company Secretaries or the Board will call the meeting within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders shall mail a written inquiry to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (Address: Room 09-10, 41/F, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong,)
stating that the recipient to the Joint Company Secretaries.

Procedures for shareholders putting forward proposals
Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting by sending written notice of his or her proposals to
the Joint Company Secretaries at the principal place of business in
Hong Kong, according to the Companies Ordinance and the Articles
of Association.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

Pursuant to the Article of Association, if a Shareholder wishes to
propose a person for election as a Director at an AGM, he/she
should pass a written notice of the nomination to the Joint Company
Secretaries at the principal place of business in Hong Kong within
seven days period commencing the day after the despatch of the
notice of the meeting. The shareholder must pass a written notice of
his/her nomination and a notice signed by the nominated candidate
with his/her willingness to be appointed as a Director to the Joint
Company Secretaries. The notice should include the candidate’s
information as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.41(2) of the
Listing Rules and a letter of consent to public his/her personal’s
information.

Upon the Joint Company Secretaries received a valid nomination,
they will prepare a supplemental circular with the information
about the nominated candidate to the Shareholders as soon as
practicable. The Nomination Committee will assess whether the
nominated candidate is competence and consider the composition
and needs of the Board, please refer to section headed “Nomination
Policy” in this Corporate Governance Report.

Voting by poll

The Company proposed separate resolutions for each substantially
separate issue in the AGM. All the separate resolutions will be
voted by poll except the Chairman, in good faith, decides to allow
a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative
matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The Company will
announce the results of the poll in the manner prescribed under the
Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible to maintain an effective and efficient
internal control system and risk management system and setting
appropriate policies in order to safeguard the Company’s assets
and the Shareholders’ interest. The internal control system and risk
management system are designed to manage (rather than eliminate)
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide
reasonable assurance, but not absolute assurance, against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company has established an Internal Audit Department (“IAD”)
which provides independent, objective assurance and consulting
services designed to add value and improve the Company’s
operations. The IAD establish a risk-based audit plan to priorities
the internal audit activity to ensure the high risks business activities
are reviewed. The Company also engaged an independent internal
control adviser (the “Internal Control Consultant”) to perform the
review of the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems. The Internal Control Consultant worked closely with the
IAD to perform independent and objective assessments to provide
assurance that governance, risk management and internal control
(“GRC”) structure and key control procedures are designed properly
and are operating effectively. The Internal Control Consultant
also identify and offer recommendations for GRC structures and
processes; and the IAD is responsible to establish procedures that
ensure the management response to the recommendations.
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The Audit Committee bears the primary responsibility for
governance and serves as the focal point for all governance
activities. The Audit Committee review the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Company on an on-going
basis and consider the adequacy of resources, competence of staff
of the Company’s Finance Division, as well as their continuous
development. The Audit Committee approve the internal audit plan
and the internal audit charter to direct in setting strategic objectives,
establishing risk appetite and effective control systems. The Audit
Committee also reviews the works and the results prepared by the
IAD and the Internal Control Consultant.

According to the report from the Internal Control Consultant,
the Company’s key control procedures over GRC structure are
adequacy and effective. The Board is satisfied that the internal
control and risk management systems are in place and effective.

During the year under review since the Listing Date, the Company
has amended and republished its Articles of Association on 6 June
2020. Such Articles of Association are available on the websites
of both the Company (http://www.czcgtl.com) and the Stock
Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present their report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) are the provision of rail freight transportation and related
ancillary services by operating freight railway and railway yards.
Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 11 to 17 of this annual report. This discussion
forms part of this directors’ report.

The Group’s revenue is substantially generated from provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services in the PRC. The
principal assets of the Group are also located in PRC. Accordingly,
no geographical segment information is presented.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 19 October 2018 under
the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised), and has been registered as a non-Hong Kong Company
under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance on 29 May 2020.

In our preparation for the Listing of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange, the Group underwent reorganisation. Pursuant to which,
the Company has become the holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group on 17 June 2019. For details of the
group reorganisation, please refer the section headed “HISTORY
AND CORPORATE STRUCTURE” in the Prospectus. The Shares
have been listed on the Stock Exchange since 23 October 2020.

Further discussion and analysis of our principle activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 08 to 10
and 11 to 17 of this annual report, respectively. This discussion
forms part of this directors’ report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHE

Major customers and suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

TEFEFRMUER
RV RFEANREETEZFREHEEAR
HEFRERBENENNT :

Percentage of
the Group’s total

HAEEAEES L
Sales Purchases
HEH KRB
The largest customer BAEF 17.5%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEGT 55.7%
The largest supplier BRAMER 20.3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate T REEELES 59.2%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

Key Risks and Uncertainties
The following highlights some of the key risks that affect our
business:

Type of risk Description of risk
E g ER [ B 6

RERNEASEMEES FENBRALE
RARMRR (BESHASEERQAFCEH
TROBESHULE) RZETEFFREE
AR EEEAER -

FTERBREFARERER
LUTAZERRAXEBNETIERRREER

Internal control measures

R BB HE B

Competition risk Our Canggang Railway Line is directly
extended from the Cangzhou Station
to the Port Huanghua. During the
Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report, there are no
alternative routes for air and sea
transportation. Furthermore, due to
pre-existing differentiation by the
function of each railway, there’s no
direct competition from Shuo-Huang
Railway Line and the Han-Huang
Railway Line within the Cangzhou-
Port Huanghua area. Our Canggang
Railway Line is a local railway operator
with a high degree of exclusivity and
insulation from competition.
RARMABRIDEZEERMNELEHRESR
BB - RBEHARBEAFHRBE > I
EUENRNMERBERLR - It AR
FHREIRLFEEZE  WERMNEER
BBMBATFEREBPERRBESRN
EEHF  RBRAARGsEHMMEAT
THEPFZENL LT EREER o

BmEERE
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The Company is operating under the theme
of “Changing ideas, improving services
and opening up markets” since 2020, and
established 18 improvement measures,
such as actively coordinate with local party
committees, governments, the NRA, and
the Shuohuang Railway; actively strive
for policy and business cooperation and
support; and further expand our ancillary
services including road transportation,
freight agency, filtering, and other new
service businesses in the logistics chain.

H2020F#8 - AQREL [RBEE - BRAR
% EAmS] WESKEXR  WHE181H
BOEREE - flMEERE - B - BIXER
B R M E S AR BT EBUR A X
BFRXE  WE—SHEQANEHYIR -
BEERERL  EERE - BERYREFH
fib ¥ BLAR TS 375 o
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Description of risk
L B 4 ot
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EEGHRE

Internal control measures

A BB 4 B

Investment risk

RERK

However, in the future development,
such pre-existing differentiation by
function is not legally binding and the
Company’s business is still possess
of certain competition risks. Since we
relies heavily on the coal transportation
business which accounts for over
60% of our revenue from rail freight
transportation. Therefore, the potential
competitors may harm the Company’s
competitive advantage.

MM EARRBERS  LWEBRENIIEE
EMWEERORD - BAQAHER]
FE—ENHFERE o ARALDEEARK
REAXSR (HEASEEREEREE
B60%) @ EHEERFHFREHFHE
REANBRES -

In the absence of reliable and relevant
information and feasibility analysis, any
decrease of value or underperformance
of these financial assets may adversely
affect our financial condition or
business prospects.

HERZ A ERABENERMM AT IEDTH
BRT  ZEERMEENEETH®RNKE
TMES AR H RPN BAR R N EH A=
EETHEE -

In the past few years, we invested
in short-term wealth management
products issued by licensed
commercial banks in China, which
mainly included investment portfolios
covering debentures, asset backed
securities, interbank loans, reverse
purchases and bank deposits.

RBEHF  RMBREAPEFEEZE
RITHITHNENENER  TEBRRE
BEER  EEEARS RITHAER R
MEERBITERNREALAS -

The Company adopted and implemented an
enhanced internal policy since August 2019
which provides guidelines, requirements
and an approval process with respect to our
treasury investment activities.
RAT)H20195F8 A BERA KR B & R A A
BHE  ZBRESEAR QR EBRETHRM
THEsl ~ REMALERE ©

We are only allowed to invest in wealth
management products with low risk as
ranked by the issuing institutions. No
investments can be made on unsecured
debentures, non-principal protected
products based on derivative assets and
products issued by institutions without valid
operating licenses.
RAABEAHFREBTHREIDRABRBENIE
BEmM  FARENERFGERER - FRADT
%zééﬁu&mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%%ﬁ
\ [o]u] o
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Type of risk
[ B R A

Description of risk
L B 4 ot

Internal control measures

BB 2 45 B

Business
development risk

EBBREAR

40

Canggang Railway Limited e

When developing a new business/
route, if the Company fails to
conduct research and analysis on
the service content, site selection or
land acquisition of the new business/
route, the Company may fail to meet
expectations due to insufficient
preliminary planning.
RBRIERBRER  WADAREY
MER BERNBRBAR - BuSRBihE
ITMRR DM ANA B A REE EH AT E R &
TRMEEENFRREE -

Annual Report 2020

Prior to our purchase of any wealth
management products, our securities
investment department is required to
compile a due diligence report providing
the information such as the feasibility of the
investment and an economic analysis of the
investment.

RARBBEEMEMERZA  ARFHE
SREVPLARE-NBRBAERE - UREHG
WRETATHENRELEINEER -

Any investment exceeds RMB20.0 million,
such investment must also be reviewed and
approved by our Board.
SHEEBARE20.0BETHRENERBE
EEERRAE -

Our securities investment department is
responsible for monitoring the performance
of the invested wealth management
products and ensuring the relevant
contracts are not breached. Any significant
or adverse fluctuation in the invested wealth
management products shall be reported to
our management and appropriate mitigation
actions shall be taken immediately.
BEREVEEERFIREBMEMNRER -
WHERRERSOALEERER - REBEUER
WMHBEFMERLAFKE - BEQAAQTE
BEHRE YW VAREUEEWAERRE o

The Company continue communicates with
the government and the project leader to
follow up and monitor the progress of the
project.
RAREHEERBFTNEEEEABE  UR
ENMEBEAMNER -

The company will continue to monitor and
analyze the impact of changes in customer
demand on business/route development,
and reconsider whether the expansion plan
can bring the Company’s expected profit
and customer volume in the original plan
under the condition of changes in customer
demand increase.
RRBGHFEBRIN DT EEFRB(CHER
SBBERNEE  UERFPEREMNER
T ENZREESIEER/LTDAFREREFT
SFEIPNTESABNEFE -
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Internal control measures

A BB 4 B

Environmental
protection risk
RIR AR

Natural disasters
(including climate

risks)
BARKE
(BERERRE)

Any pollutants emission during the
business process, the failure to comply
with the requirements of environmental
protection laws and regulations,
or the activities that endanger the
environment, would increase the risk
on legal liabilities, such as physical
injury to others, property damage,
and punitive damages derived from
violation.

WMARBERL RIS L L BIZ P FTHE LAY 5 1Y)
RERREBMERNER  IRBRE
RIBHES - IR IREEEEENE
B PIMBMAERABREE  MESR
Ko UREEETAMELERESMEE -

Natural disasters (such as typhoons,
flooding and earthquakes), epidemics,
acts of war, terrorist attacks, political
unrest and other events, many of which
are beyond our control, may lead to
global or regional economic instability,
which may in turn materially and
adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
BARKE (MR - KERMBE) -~ RIT
B RNEE  BURBERHMS
fr (SR Mprecizs) g8
2R EEETE - M E M
%gxwﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁik$ﬂ
=4 o

B

The Company has established
“Environmental and Safety Work Matters”,
which has a number of environmental
management measures related to business.
AABEHE [BRREZ2TFSBE] - BF
HAEZHEXBKABRNRIRERERR -

The Company uses those fuels that meet
national regulations. Locomotives will also
be regularly repaired and maintained to
ensure that the emissions meet national
regulations.
ARARPFANRBEFEERRE - XAAT
?E%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ'aﬁﬁHMﬁéﬁﬁ
HE °

Dust removal spray equipment is installed
in the station and warehouses; and the coal
stack area is equipped with thatches to
control dust pollution.
AABERBUNBEERNREREEERE
WHREREREFEUEFHETRIER

The Company has established the “Incident
Management System” and “Emergency
Plan”, and has a complete emergency
system and process to guide various
departments to respond to emergency
accidents and disaster relief work on rainy,
snowy roads and severe cold weather.
AATEHE [ERNEERFNE] R [EZF
2] URETBENESHENRE  BES
HPEBEMAMNTERERRBEERRER
THESSZHMPLTE -

The Company conducts safety drills every
season to strengthen the resilience of
employees.

AARBFYEETREERUMNBRE THE
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Environmental Policies and Performance

We are subject to PRC national and local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection, prevention and control of
pollution, and incident reporting. We have obtained all pollutant
discharge permits necessary from the relevant local environmental
protection authority.

We regard environmental protection as an important corporate
responsibility and are dedicated to implementing a comprehensive
environmental protection management system in our daily
operations. Our safety supervision office is responsible for
developing and implementing internal rules and regulations on
environmental protection. We have adopted regulations in respect
of working procedure at various locations including railways and
freight yards to ensure compliance with environmental protection
laws and regulations.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including,
among others, Local Railway Transportation License, Regulations on
Road Transportation, Regulations on Railway Safety Measurement,
Production Safety Law of the PRC, etc, for our industry in PRC. The
Listing Rules also apply to the Company since the Listing Date. The
Group executes control activities and follow the internal compliance
procedures to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and
regulations in particular, those bring significant impact to the
Company. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will timely be brought to the attention of the relevant employees and
departments.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief on the date of this
annual report, save as the non-compliance disclosed in the section
headed “Business — Non-compliance incidents”, the Company has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

Customers, suppliers, sub-contractors and employees are the key
to our business sustainability and stable growth. We are committed
to establishing a close relationship with our employees, providing
quality services to our customers and enhancing cooperation with
our suppliers and sub-contractors.

Employees

Employees are one of our most important assets. The Group
has been endeavouring to provide our employees with a fair and
harmonious workplace, such that, we maintain a good working
relationship with our employees. The Group grants share options to
those employees to recognise and reward the employees who have
contributed to the Group’s development. We also provide internal
and external training programs to our employees to continuously
improve their skills and knowledge and enhance their understanding
of production safety.
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Customers

We believe that intimating and safety are always the core values
in providing our services to the customers. We are committed
in building strong business relationships with our customers.
We have constructed Special Service Lines owned by such
customers stretching directly into the factories or premises of
these customers from our main railway line, facilitating easier rail
fright transportation. We also offer ancillary services with one-stop
solution in terms of freight transportation to make us more attractive
to new rail freight transportation customers.

Suppliers and subcontractors

We developed a strong working relationship with our suppliers
and subcontractors for our operations. We select suppliers based
on a number of factors, including, among others, history of our
relationship with them, product quality, supply capacity, price
and delivery time. To avoid reliance on any single supplier, we
conduct thorough market research and interview numerous market
participants before actually making any procurement.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 60 to 61 of this annual report.

Operating Segment Information

The Group is principally engaged in provision of services. The
information reported to the Group’s management for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment focuses on the
following two reportable segments.

— Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail freight
transportation in the PRC.

— Ancillary services: this segment provides freight loading and
unloading services, road freight transportation and other
services in the PRC.

Dividends

As a result of the tightened economic environment and the recent
outbreak of COVID in Hebei Province, the Board do not recommend
the payment or accruals in respect of the final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 24(c) to the financial statements. Shares
were issued during the Reporting Period under the Listing on the
Stock Exchange. Details about the issue of shares are also set out
in note 24(c) to the financial statements.

On 16 June 2020, the Company passed resolutions to increase the
authorized share capital of the Company from HK$380,000 divided
into 38,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to the resolutions discussed in the above paragraph, the
Company allotted and issued a total of 749,990,000 shares credited
as fully to the equity shareholders whose names appeared on the
register of members of the Company at the close of business on
16 June 2020 by way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$7,500,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB6,455,000) standing to the credit
of the share premium account of the Company.

Pursuant to the Shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 23 October 2020, 250,000,000 ordinary shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$0.95 each
by initial public offering. The proceeds of HK$2,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB2,152,000), representing the par value, were
credited to the Company’s share capital. The remaining proceeds,
net of share issuance expenses, of approximately HK$217,580,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB186,905,000) were credited to the
share premium account.

At 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company,
as calculated under the provisions of the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, was RMB399,638,000 (2019: RMB343,088,000).

The 2020 AGM will be held on Monday, 24 May 2021. A notice
convening the 2020 AGM and other relevant documents will be
published and despatched to the Shareholders of the Company in
accordance with the Listing Rules in due course.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 18 May 2021 to Monday, 24 May 2021 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of Shares shall ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
at 46th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 May 2021.
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The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Yongliang (Chairman) (appointed on 19 October 2018)
Mr. Yi Weiming (CEQ) (appointed on 20 September 2019)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Zhihua (appointed on 20 September 2019)
Mr. Qin Shaobo (appointed on 20 September 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Changchun (appointed on 20 September 2019)
Mr. Zhao Changsong (appointed on 20 September 2019)
Ms. Lyu Qinghua (appointed on 20 September 2019)

At each AGM, one third of the Directors for the time being (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an AGM at least
once every three years.

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a contract
for appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date of the Company, unless
terminated by notice in written served by either party on the other in
accordance with the service contract.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles of Association, one-
third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to article 83(3) shall
not be taken into account in determining which particular Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by the rotation.
Accordingly, Mr. Liu Yongliang and Mr. Xu Zhihua shall retire by
rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM to be held in due course.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out
in the circular will be sent to the Company’s Shareholders in due
course.

No director, including those proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM, has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which is conditionally approved by a resolution of the
then Shareholders of our Company passed on 16 June 2020. The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

EEGHRE

RBEEHARBERNFHRAPNESNT ¢

HITES
LI K ZHRE (FFE) (R2018F 108 19H EZE(F)
IHERR o4 (7TIAE L) (IR2019F9 520 H EZ1F)

EHITESE
BEE R AL (R20195F9F20H EZE )
=OEEE (R2019F9F20H EZ(T)

BYFHITES

B R & %% (K2019E9F20H EZ 1F)
RN EE (K2019F9F20H # Z1F)
SEEL L (R2019F9H20H EZE1F)

REERFRBFAEL =52 NWETES
(HHABTF=WEE - AAREELIEFD
EA_"Z WAR) AWmFERE HESEES

AELB=FRRREFRSELERE-R-
BHRTESCHEAQATLEEEN  FHA

BAXNE Em BB =% BRIFEF-FR
BRESAOS —HREEEBATULRL -

REEZEEMAEME REERRBEARS
bt =Za2—MNEEERFRMET  WEEEF
CERBEREFT NECTHFEERINESEES
REEAHE - TS ARIBEZES3Q)HK ﬁ%%
SEENERNES - At Y kERERBE
EREBREERRREERS LHERT I
FEERLBEEERET MERRREFEX
SRNEEREET -

FESPRRBFAS LESEENESNF
BEMEREERIREARN D FRRFENER
& o

BEES (BEZSEENEERRBF RS
TERBENES)JAARRQ AR EAKNE
RATAR-—FABANREE (-REEE
ERRIN) MA LB RERRIEE L -

AKQABRCHEM—EERETE ([BRET
2l > DHALQFEEFNREMN2020FE6816
AEBRZERZEFRMEIE - BRESTEINER
BFELEMRAFEI7TEBRINBEE -

RBBBEERAT o 202055% 45



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRE

The Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive or reward for
the Grantees (as defined below) for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the Eligible
Persons (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal stake
in our Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to our Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
relationships with such Eligible Persons who are significant to and/
or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance,
growth or success of our Group, and additionally in the case of
Executives (as defined below), to enable our Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and/or reward them for
their past contributions.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Eligible Persons include (i)
any executive director of, manager of, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any
member of our Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any
full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the time being
seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of our
Group (“Employee”); (ii) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of our Group;
(iii) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our Group; (iv)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group; (v) a
customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of our Group;
(vi) a person or entity that provides design, research, development
or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other
services to any member of our Group; (vii) an associate of any of
the persons referred to in paragraphs (i) to (vi) above; and (viii) any
person involved in the business affairs of the Company whom our
Board determines to be appropriate to participate in the Share
Option Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other scheme of our Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as the Listing Date (such
10% limit representing 100,000,000 Shares) (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). The Board may think fit seek approval from our
Shareholders to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, save that the
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of our Company shall not exceed 10% of our Shares
in issue as of the date of the Shareholders’ approval.

We may seek separate Shareholders’ approval for granting Options
beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that the Options in
excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible
Person specified by our Company before such approval is obtained.
We shall issue a circular to the Shareholders containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Share Option
Scheme, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of our
Group shall not exceed 30% of our Company’s issued share capital
from time to time. No Options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of our Company
if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
exceeds 1% of our Company’s issued share capital from time to
time.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for acceptance
by the Eligible Person concerned for a period of 28 days from
the offer date. An Option have been granted and accepted by the
Eligible Person when the duplicate offer letter is duly signed by the
grantee together with a remittance of HK$1.00 is received by our
Company on or before the date upon which an offer of an Option
must be accepted by the relevant Eligible Person (the “Acceptance
Date”).

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
at the time of grant of the relevant Option. The subscription price
shall be at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of a Share; (ii)
the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; and (iii) the average closing
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the offer
date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the date on which it becomes unconditional on
the Listing Date, after which no further options will be granted or
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain
in force and effect in all other respects. All options granted prior to
such expiry and not then exercised shall continue to be valid and
exercisable subject to and in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is around
nine years and five months.

No share options had been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme was 100,000,000, representing 10% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company.

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Besides the Share Option Scheme discussed in the above
paragraphs, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during
the year or subsisting at the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the minimum public float as required
under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate liabilities insurance to
indemnify the Directors from any liabilities and costs arising from
the business of the Group and the permitted indemnity provision (as
defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company is currently in force.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in the note 27
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Save for the related party
transactions, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the Reporting Period.

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2020 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last four financial years is set out on page 136 of the annual
report.

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the
Group are shown in the note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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The Group’s property interests located in the PRC as at 31 August
2020 have been valued by an independent property valuer and the
amount of such valuation of the properties is RMB1,476.9 million.
The revaluation surplus has not been recorded in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss. If the revaluation surplus were recorded in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, addition annual
deprecation and amortisation of approximately RMB14.7 million
would be charged against the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the Reporting Period.

Details of the retirement schemes are set out in note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, there was no contract of significance entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor there was any contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2020 or subsisted
as at 31 December 2020.

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals for the Reporting Period is set
out in notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Save as Mr. Qin Shaobo waived his remuneration, no other
Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the Reporting
Period.

No contract, other than appointment contracts and employment
contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business was
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, none
of the Directors had any interest in a business other than the Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, and required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

The net proceeds from the global offering of the Shares were
approximately HK$206.4 million (RMB173.7 million), after deducting
the underwriting fees and commission and other related listing
expenses paid and payable by us, which was intended to be applied
in the manner as set out in the section headed “Future Plan and Use
of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. An analysis of the utilisation of the
net proceeds from the Listing Date up to 31 December 2020 is set
out below:

RESHARBELAREAY  SEESME
o) B £ o ) R B A B [ SR AS AR A B T RE B R B
FHER (BRAKEN) hEAEMER - HA
BB LR BIESAORARE T UIKE -

BNBREPEFREMHNEHEERNESRE
fEE LMY E  RERDERBENHSE
NEFRBENE20645EB T (ARK173.780
B EHESHEREBRERIARFERA
BREAR|-HFHEFRNERA - BLTHEEH
HEZE2020F 1231 B IEW TS RIEFRES A 1B
MoTEINNT -

Amount Expected
utilised as at timeframe
31 December for full
Net proceeds 2020 utilisation
7420205
ik 12A31H EgHAN
NEFE MNEHAtE HHREO
RMB million RMB million
ARBEER AR®EER
To construct our branch line connecting BREEE I TIER 2024
the Northern Shandong Industrial Park 3% 4% 67.3 - 20245
To construct our branch line connecting BRERDENEES 2022
the Comprehensive Industrial Park EXEENZ & 433 - 20225
To upgrade and renovating basic infrastructure for R EIEBRH 2024
our Canggang Railway Line Ef g 23.2 2.2 20245
To purchase one new locomotive BE-HiHKE 2022
8.6 - 20226
To upgrade our communications, signal automation, F&E:  EHBEEHK 2021
and remote monitoring systems BRERZR 4.4 - 20215
To repay our bank loan BERTER N/A
55 55 TER
To settle amounts payable in connection with our XA E L it F AER 2022
purchase of land use rights HEEEAFRE 214 - 2022
Total st 173.7 7.7

M The expected timeline for the application of the unutilised net proceeds
is subject to uncertainties brought by the international macro-
environment and the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic on the
prevailing and future market conditions and business developments
and in need. In view of the significant effects to the economy
and business environment, we shall update and re-visit our plan
continuously.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief
executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong, the “SFQO”)), which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) as recorded in the register kept by
the Company, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or (c) otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers were as follows:

Name of Director/ Name of associated

EEGHRE

BEHHHERBERFHREAY EFRES
THRABRAQRAHEAMEEEE(ERXR
BRAPIESNEZZRAEHRM (RHKH
BRAI]) EXVER) AR 4D ~ AEBEIR 10 R B RE
T EBQREESRBERMEXVEETR
FEORMAMEARNARBI AN ER R AR
(BERBEEZRBEMRIEBEIRTEFRE
RABEENEBERAR) » R(b)ILERADF
RIEEZ RBERGIEIMFRFENELHA
HESFAR  RC)RBE EHETAESET
BEXZNBREFUAANERN T REZFE
BmRXBWT ¢

Number of Shares Percentage of

Chief Executive corporation/Capacity interested shareholding
EE EETHAEHSA B EEER, 54 HEEEENRAEAE ERESHK
Mr. Liu Interest in a controlled 657,975,000 65.80%
k4 corporation®

REELBNERD
Mr. Yi Interest in a controlled 35,775,000 3.58%
KEHE corporation®

RELZEBEER?

™ Mr. Liu is the sole shareholder of Jinghai BVl and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jinghai BVI.

@ Mr. Yi is the sole shareholder of Greenport BVI and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Greenport BVI.

Save as disclosed above, since the Listing Date and up to the
date of this annual report, so far as is known to any Directors or
chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company has any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (b)
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

O BEEBTEBVINKE KRR FEFEBRAER
TUBBVIE AN BRDPHEEER -

@  KE4E BGreenport BVIFIME—IRER - F L #HKIE
AR Greenport BVIISEWR D FHEEER °

BREXFKEEIN BLTEHERBEARSF
BEH  BEANESHAAQAKRSTHASMN
A BEESIARARSTHRAERADF
FEBEEE (TR R RSN BERMEXVED)
G - HERDNEERT  BEQRER
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Set out below is the name of the party whose interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
(pursuant to part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2020 as
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO:

Nature of interest

SN

Name

=1

Jinghai BVI (wholly-owned by
Mr. Liu Yongliang)
REBVI (HEIKSTEREHRER)

Beneficial owner

BEREAA

Greenport BVI (wholly-owned by
Mr. Yi Weiming) Beneficial owner

Greenport BVI (HK#ERLEEZEHEE) BREEA

Save as disclosed above, since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report, no other persons had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at
31 December 2020 as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed
under Part XV of the SFO.

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

The Group established the Remuneration Committee to review
and make recommendation to the Company’s emolument policy;
review and approve performance based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives; and to determine the terms of
the specific remuneration package of each executive Director and
senior management. Details of the Directors’ emoluments and five
individuals with the highest emoluments are set out in notes 8 and 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme as incentive
to eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above. No share options
had been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 27
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, none of which constitutes
a material connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as required to be disclosed under Rule 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Since the Listing date and up to the date of this annual report,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

The Shares were listed on Stock Exchange on 23 October 2020, and
there has been no change in auditors since the Listing Date. KPMG
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the reappointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Yongliang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KpME

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Canggang
Railway Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Canggang
Railway Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 60 to 135, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % BLAT RS

Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

FHEREERT W REER

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 87.

FRHG S TEIRAN FAR BN ES7E A E 5T BUE °

The Key Audit Matter
HRETSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMNBETNMEERRSER

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards.
BEEENIEXBAZBRLEEEHARRERFAESRE
MR EEREEHY RS

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
services, which accounted for 72% of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020, are
recognised when the services are rendered and the
enforceable rights to payments are obtained.
RERMBAREERBHWE (15 SEBEBE20205F12
A31ALEFERAWRERMNT2%) IR AL IR IS T R &I
TR ERFRER -

We have identified recognition of revenue for rail
freight transportation services as a key audit matter
as revenue is one of the key performance indicators of
the Group which give rise to an inherent risk that the
revenue for rail freight transportation services could be
recorded in the incorrect period or could be subject to
manipulation to meet financial targets or expectations.
EMEXEREREERBHNEERER HERET
=218 RARWEA SEEEP-BIZHWES X
SEYEREGERBRBENRERBBARIZIRIZEIE
% B ESBHENE B R o

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition in
respect of rail freight transportation services included the
following:
ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ%‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂL&ﬁ‘éﬁiﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂ%ﬁﬁf?@?ﬁu
T&IE :

Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of the Group’s key internal controls over
recognition of revenue for rail freight transportation
services;

THEENE EEEAERAEREERE RANES
BAMEFORT - BOREEBEHRN

Inspecting service agreements signed with
key customers of the Group for rail freight
transportation services, and assessing the
revenue recognition criteria with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

BREHBREERKE SEETEXFFTNRE
i WS REF S ENNRETERREIEL

Comparing, on a sample basis, the revenue for
rail freight transportation services with underlying
documentation, which included service agreements
with the customers, sales invoices issued to the
customers, and rail freight delivery notes confirmed
by the customers, to determine whether the related
revenue had been properly recognised;
HMEEEEREERFRREBB XY (BEREES
FYMBRERE REFHANEERE  URKLER
FEANEBREEXIMNER)  UEETHBERZRS
ZRHER
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) FEREETEE(E)

Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

B R B R A W R

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 87.

FBRHGE TR E4R BN ES7E K E 5T BUE ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERETSE BMMEFNNEEERSE
° Obtaining audit confirmations, from the key

customers of the Group in relation to the revenue
of rail freight transportation services recognised
by the Group during the year. For unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative procedures by
comparing details of the transactions with relevant
underlying documentation;

B EXEEFAEIFBREEREREN BE5EE
FTEEZFNEETABR BRARLEBNAZRAM
= ARTHARFEERZFHFEEREAERE T

° Assessing, on a sample basis, whether revenue
transactions for rail freight transportation services
recorded around the financial year end had
been recognised in the appropriate financial
period in accordance with the terms set out in
the service agreements by comparing details
of these transactions with relevant underlying
documentation; and
UBARER ZRHLCRUBELEBAZRARNE
REERBRER S NFFEEREMAE M - 57
FERXZREREBRBHBFAHEIIGR  REEY K
HEEZ R

° Inspecting underlying documentation for
journal entries relating to revenue of rail freight
transportation services which were considered to
meet specific risk-based criteria.

MR AR EEREWSEAREL R RABFSHERR
= RI Y A BRAC SR O AR BE S HF -
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

B Z AR E
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

58 Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2020

EMMER RUGAUBRREBESTF
£ H P R FE R 86 GR T B B A0 B K8 SR R ER
SEERE  LHAEBERMERNVLEER
HoAREREMREBRREA - BRI
TAREEMAR -  RARTIRABRENR
BoHEMHEHMALTESHRESE -

FERABRSKFHRE  ETERIRRE
BEEAETHES AR -BEXERBRML
TP R AR BEER 3R o $RER PR 7] LA i BRFF S 8 58
Sl MREERMECMEBRERLRTEE
FEGSUBERREAERBEYBHRAMEL
HYEERE - BIBBAREERBUR AT RAFE K -

EREEBEFEIETESNBERESD - RA
BRTEXAE RETERREEE - B
IR

. BRI AR ERRFRERMEMGFS
MBBREFEERERBANER - R
STRITE R AREELEME - XL
REDRZENEENENERE FHRK
MERNER BANRFAELLRS
= RE - BRER  ERRI - 0K
BRAES £ FHIREHBER
AMEHNERBREAWERS®
AEBRBERBRMEBMEANERR
pu: o=

. BER T RE AR AIRES - &R
SHEENESTREF BENNEYE &
SERNREFNERRLBERER -

. HEESHRASHBENBELER
RS AN EERENSEM -

. HEERABEKLSTERNREMS
EhEwm - RIBFMENMNESERE - &
EREFHEESHEIBRABHEMNEX
THREN ‘MUEEYY SRE®
RFEKERNELEERER - MERM
ARFHEEATEEM  AELEEXK
HMBRETRFEAEIEGSUH
BRPOEBKE - REEBENRET
2 ABRMAERERRFERERR - &
MEERRERZBERE A LA
BHESTRE - AW - RRFELFER
THEEY BERETREFELE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Tsz Chung.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

for the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))

# 220204125318 1 F B
(KA M (AR ) 5] 7)
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE AR®T T ARMT T
Revenue & 4 361,474 376,904
Operating expenses: K&
Staff costs B I 6(b) (53,458) (63,777)
Outsourcing service charges and MNERBEWE R
other labor costs H{th &5 8) H AR (45,191) (44,291)
Cargo logistics EEYR (31,986) (39,117)
Depreciation e 6(c) (36,745) (34,830)
Fuel used Fr AR (23,094) (26,815)
Repairs and maintenance HERRE (20,128) (17,260)
General and administration expenses —BRITHEX (25,671) (22,743)
Impairment loss on trade receivables EZRWFEREBEEE 25(a) (3,615) (595)
Other expenses Hipax (7,957) (11,130)
Total operating expenses REFT AR (247,845) (260,558)
Other income Hetr A 5 3,186 2,742
Operating profit R 116,815 119,088
Finance costs A& AR 6(a) (26,043) (24,654)
Share of loss of associates FE(LHgEE N R E51E 14 (1,043) (183)
Profit before taxation KRB AR R 6 89,729 94,251
Income tax FriSH 7(a) (25,174) (24,755)
Profit for the year FERF 64,555 69,496
Attributable to: AT FEML -
Equity shareholders of the Company RABRERRR 63,649 70,194
Non-controlling interests IR RS 906 (698)
Profit for the year FERA 64,555 69,496
Earnings per share (RMB) BRERN (ARK¥T)
- Basic and diluted —ERRHE 10 0.08 0.09

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ek EMEZEKRER

for the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in RMB)

B F2020F 12531 1t FEF

(U R¥5F)

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F R ARBTT

Profit for the year FEBH 64,555 69,496
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHMt2EWKRE
(after tax): (BRBi&)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HEAREFPER
to profit or loss: BRWIER :
- Exchange differences on translation into —RER/EREE 2 E BT
presentation currency of the Group EENERELE (4,009) (272)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXAWREHE 60,546 69,224
Attributable to: BT e -
Equity shareholders of the Company RATERRR 59,640 69,922
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RS 906 (698)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXEHKRETH 60,546 69,224

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial 68Z135EMKITERARMIEHREN—BD o
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B HE AR O R

at 31 December 2020
(Expressed in RMB)

2020128318
(UAR#ZR)
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
o AR¥T T AR¥T T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M MERKE 11 766,727 789,570
Right-of-use assets FREEE 12 193,387 197,855
Interests in associates REEE N TSR 14 6,459 3,502
Deferred tax assets ELEMIEEE 23(b) 7,421 8,209
Prepayments and other receivables TR FOE R R IE 17 2,734 3,374
976,728 1,002,510
Current assets REEE
Inventories 7E 15 5,904 5,009
Trade and bills receivables EHENFTEREWREE 16 96,568 134,858
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIR I E At FE SRR 17 12,583 19,649
Cash and cash equivalents BeENIBEEEER 18 227,143 33,866
342,198 193,382
Current liabilities REAE
Bank and other loans RITREMER 19 118,051 290,999
Trade payables g S EARIE 20 26,833 27,700
Other payables Hth e+ 5018 21 55,483 75,745
Contract liabilities EHERE 22 2,524 2,630
Current taxation B ERFR 18 23(a) 9,262 8,501
212,153 405,575
Net current assets/(liabilities) ~ #®BEE/ (Af) #&/ 130,045 (212,193)
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERABERE 1,106,773 790,317
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Bank and other loans RTREMER 19 337,185 270,332
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 337,185 270,332
NET ASSETS EEFEE 769,588 519,985

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial 568Z 1358 MM EBMAMIERERM—IFD -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI R

at 31 December 2020
(Expressed in RMB)

JR20204F 12531 H

(U R¥25F7)

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

By aE ARBT T ARBTT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E 24

Share capital &N 8,607 —*

Reserves & 731,650 491,560
Total equity attributable to equity RATEZRREN

shareholders of the Company S 740,257 491,560
Non-controlling interests FEfE IR 29,331 28,425
TOTAL EQUITY M 769,588 519,985
* Amount less than RMB1,000. * LEBTEAR1,0007T °

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 25 2021538258 KHESEMERTETIE -
March 2021.

Liu Yongliang Yi Weiming
Zk= K4 A
Chairman Director
*E EE

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial 68F135E MK TIEMAMIERFRN—ZD
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in RMB)

B E20209F 12531 H 1F F &
(UABRB57T)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KRTEERREE
Safety
Share Other Statutory production Exchange Retained Non-controling Total
capital Teserve reserve fund reserve reserve profits Subtotal interests equity
REE
e AbfE 1RER HedE EXRE REEA M FERER s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETr ARETr  ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETR
(Note24(c) ~ (Note2d(d)fil) ~ (Note2d(d)fil) ~ (Note24(d)v))  (Note2d(d)W)
(W) (Wsboui) (W) (@i (HEdy)
At 1 January 2019 R019E1818 347,885 99,053 39214 - - 264,534 710,746 29,123 799,869
Changes in equity for the year BEN0E12ANALEEN
ended 31 December 2019: BE%E:
Profit for the year EEER - - - - - 70,194 70,194 (698) 69,496
Other comprehensive income Afb2EdE - - - - (1) - () - (27
Total comprehensive income AbREE - - - - (1) 70,19 69,922 (699) 69,224
Capital injection HE - 12,075 - - - - 12,075 - 12,075
Appropriaton to reserves BHZhE - - 11,640 - - (11,640) - - -
Deemed distrbution FEAR
- effect on equity arising from -SBEANEREL
the group reorganization fge (347,885) (13,298) - - - - (361,183) - (361,183)
Safety production fund reserve FRLEELRE
- Appropriation -BR - - - 2,052 - 295) - - -
- Utlzztion -8B - - - 95 - 2080 - - -
At 31 December 2019 HA2019E12R31 B - 97,830 50,914 - (1) 343,088 491,560 28,425 519,985

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2020

(Expressed in RMB)

B 220209 12831 H IE FE
. ) (UA RS T)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KATEERAEE
Safety Non-
Share Share Other Statutory  production  Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve  fund reserve reserve profits Subtotal interests equity
F2EE
Ra  RBEE  EBEE  ERRR  ESHE  ERRE  REW bt FERER £RE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARBTR AR ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  AREBTR  ARETR
(Note24(c)) ~ (Note24(d)(i) (Note24(d)fil) (Note24(d)ii) (Note24(d)iv)) ~(Note24(d)(v)
(Witode)  (Hrstou)) (Wstoa(a)ii)) (Rstog(dii)  (Waka(e)n)  (Hiik24(e)v)
At1 January 2020 H202051818 - 97,830 50914 - (21 343,088 491,560 28425 519,985
Changes in equity for the year BE0NERNBLEER
ended 31 December 2020: BE%E:
Proft o the year EEEA - - - - 63,649 63,649 906 64,555
Other comprehensive income Afh2miE - - - (4,009 - (4,009) - (4,009)
Total comprehensive income ENREE - - - (4,009 63,649 50,640 906 60,546
Capitalisation issue (Note 24(c)i) ER{E (WE24(0)i) 6,455 (6,455) - - - - - -
Issuance of shares (Note 24(c)(i) RARE (Wre2d(c)i) 2,152 186,905 - - - 189,057 - 189,057
Appropriaton to reserves BHzfE - - 7099 - (7,099) - - -
Safety production fund reserve RELEELHR
- Appropriation -5 - - 3,0% (3,035) - -
- Utiization -8R - - (3,035) 3,035 - -
At 31 December 2020 H20205128318 8,607 180,450 97,830 58,013 - (4,281) 399,638 740,251 29,331 769,568

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GEREeRER
malREn=E

for the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in RMB)

B E20209F 1231 H IE FE
(UAEHFT)
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiaE AR®T ARBT T
Operating activities RESEH
Profit before taxation FRER AT R A 89,729 94,251
Adjustments for: AT EBIERE .
Depreciation e 6(c) 36,745 34,830
Impairment loss on trade receivables B REWFEREBEEE 3,615 595
Finance costs R E X A 6(a) 26,043 24,654
Interest income FEWA 5 (1,370) (1,097)
Net gains on investments in wealth B ERREWGZFHE
management products 5 - (142)
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of HEWE BMERZEN
property, plant and equipment R (R FHE 5 12 (784)
Share of loss of associates FE{hEE N TSR 1,043 183
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
Increase in inventories FEEM (895) (602)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills EZRWFRIEBERERERE
receivables, prepayments and other FENRIER H MR
receivables RERA, (38) 41,072 (25,786)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables EZREARIEREMMER
and other payables =E CRA) i (11,139) 6,566
(Decrease)/increase in contract EHEE R /B
liabilities (106) 401
Cash generated from operations REMBES 184,749 133,069
Income tax paid 2IER 23(a) (23,625) (22,743)
Net cash generated from operating RETHMBEESTFE
activities 161,124 110,326

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GERTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2020
(Expressed in RMB)

B E2020F 126318 1 F &
(UARMFIT)
2020 2019
20204 2019%
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
et AR®T R ARETT
Investing activities REEH
Payments for purchase of property, BEWE BERSEER
plant and equipment and right-of-use FEAREEMNER
assets (19,305) (23,973)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE Hz%& g
plant and equipment Frigka 1,344 955
Payments for purchase of investments Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéun?ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
in wealth management products - (37,000)
Proceeds from disposal of investments HERMERKREFMEBIE
in wealth management products - 38,142
Investment in an associate REE R BNIRE (4,000) -
Interest received BWFE 1,370 1,097
Net cash used in investing activities REFZEFTAREFE (20,591) (20,779)
Financing activities RESEE
Proceeds from new bank and other FrIBERIT R A ME RN
loans Fr8 508 18(b) 345,000 397,313
Repayments of bank and other loans BB R BN 18(b) (450,272) (262,943)
Proceeds from issuance of shares by FEBBERABRBERT
initial public offering, net of share B2 09 P S 718
issuance expenses (HIBRBR D 2 1TRI) 189,057 -
Proceeds from capital injection EEFTSRIA - 12,075
Net decrease in amounts due to related  FE{4 BRI 75 2B R A B 48
parties 18(b) - (310)
Net decrease in amounts due from FEWRER RIER D FEE
related parties 18(b) - 132,276
Payments to the then equity holder REBEHZEOERER
upon the group reorganization BB AR 18(b) - (361,183)
Borrowing costs paid SRR 18(b) (26,866) (26,028)
Net cash generated from/(used in) mMEEBME (FTA)
financing activities REFE 56,919 (108,800)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HeRREEEEE
and cash equivalents #®in, (GRd) B 197,452 (19,253)
Cash and cash equivalents MB1ENEER
at 1 January BE&%EER 33,866 53,119
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREEHNZE
changes (4,175) -
Cash and cash equivalents R12A31EHNEER
at 31 December ReEEER 18(a) 227,143 33,866

The notes on pages 68 to 135 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

68

Canggang Railway Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 19 October 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 23 October 2020. The Company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of rail freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “lIASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 comprise the Company and its

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) and
the Group’s interests in associates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

Prior to the incorporation of the Company, the Group’s
businesses were conducted through Cangzhou Canggang
Railway Company Limited (“Canggang Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Canggang Group”) and the
Canggang Group’s interests in associates. Pursuant to a
group reorganisation to rationalise the corporate which
was completed on 17 June 2019 (the “Reorganisation”),
the Company became the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group. All companies now
comprising the Group that took part in the Reorganisation
were controlled and beneficially owned by Mr. Liu
Yongliang (“Mr. Liu”) before and after the Reorganisation.
The Reorganisation only involved inserting the newly
formed entities with no substantive operations as the new
holding companies of the companies now comprising
the Group and there were no changes in the economic
substance of the ownership and the business of the
Group before and after the Reorganisation. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 have been prepared and
presented as a continuation of the financial information of
the companies now comprising the Group with the assets
and liabilities recognised and measured at their historical
carrying amounts prior to the Reorganisation.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except for
other investments in equity securities which are stated at
their fair values (see Note 2(f)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(c)

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs, issued by the IASB to these financial statements for
the current accounting period:

° Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business

e Amendments to IFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

None of these developments have had a material effect
on the Group’s financial performance and financial
position for current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealized
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(i)(ii)).
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(e) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see Note 2(i)(ii)).

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the investees, except
where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
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(f)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognized/
derecognized on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction
costs are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see Note 25(e). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(s)(ii)).

—  fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss
of expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognized, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

—  FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.
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(f)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrecoverable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value
are recognized in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognized in
profit or loss as other income when the equity holder’s
right to receive payment is established.

(g) Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The following items of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)):

— items of property, plant and equipment; and
— interests in leasehold land held for own use.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labor, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(u)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment or right-of-use
assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and
are recognized in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(g) Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

(h)

(continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight
line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term
of lease.

— The Group’s interests in buildings and other
properties situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
the buildings and other properties’ estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
completion.

-  Tracks, bridges and other railway assets 30-95 years

—  Locomotives and rolling stock 16 years
—  Motor vehicles 5-8 years
—  Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.
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(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

Canggang Railway Limited e

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset (see note 2(g)) and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease- by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalized are recognized as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is
initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(g)
and 2(i)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(h) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in “Right-
of-use-assets” and presents lease liabilities within
bank and other loans in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets
measured at amortized cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables and amounts due from related parties) and
contract assets.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).
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(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract

assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of

discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and bills
receivables, other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which

the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL

model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments,

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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the Group
recognizes a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realizing security (if any is held). The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Canggang Railway Limited e

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with Note
2(s)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
or

— significant changes in the market, economic or

legal environment that have an adverse effect on
the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognized no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;
—  right-of-use assets;
— interests in an associate; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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(i)

)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognized in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favorable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognized.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are stated at cost and are recognized as

expenses in the year in which the consumption occurs.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.
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(k)

U]

(m)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognized when the Group recognizes
revenue (see Note 2(s)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(i)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 2(l)).

A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognizes the related
revenue (see Note 2(s)). A contract liability would also
be recognized if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognized (see Note 2(1)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 2(s)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognized before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset (see Note 2(k)).

Receivables are stated at amortized cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see Note 2(i)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(i)(i).
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(n)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortized cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognized in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(u)).

The Group entered into the arrangements with the
financial leasing institutions in which the Group sold
certain equipment to these institutions and then leased
back with scheduled lease payments. The Group has
an option to buy back these equipment at a token price
at the end of the lease term, i.e. the bargain purchase
option. Considering that the bargain purchase option is
set at a token price, it is almost certain that the Group
would exercise such option. Such arrangements do not, in
substance, involve a lease under IFRS 16. The substance
of these arrangements are interest-bearing borrowings,
secured by the underlying assets and repayable in
installments over the lease term. The information of the
underlying assets and the secured loans are disclosed in
Notes 11 and 19.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to business combinations, items recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax (continued)

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized, are recognized.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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(a)

(r)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realize the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realize and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(s) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognized when control over a service is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognized under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in IFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Company’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services are recognized when the
services are rendered and the enforceable rights to
payments are obtained.

If the services rendered are a partial fulfillment of a
contract covering other services, then the amount of
revenue recognized is an appropriate proportion of the
total transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the services promised under the contract
on a relative stand-alone selling prices basis.

(s)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

®

(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial assets to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortized cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortized cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see Note

2(i)(i)-
(iii) Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognized as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognized in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Group
initially recognizes such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB,
the Group’s reporting currency, at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(u) Borrowing costs

(v)

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iiiy Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(u)

(v)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(v) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and

geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of services, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 25 contains information about the assumptions and their
risk factors relating to fair value of financial instruments. Other
key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Impairment of long-lived assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset may not be recoverable, the asset may
be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may
be recognized in accordance with accounting policy for
impairment of long-lived assets as described in Note 2(i)
(ii). These assets are tested for impairment periodically
or whenever the events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In determining the
value in use, expected future cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is
a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. Changes in these estimates
could have a significant impact on the recoverable amount
of the assets and could result in additional impairment
charge or reversal of impairment in future periods, where
applicable.

(b) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual values, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives and residual values, if any, of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The
determination of useful lives and residual values, if any,
are based on the historical experience with similar assets
and taking into account anticipated changes on how such
assets are to be deployed. The depreciation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

MizE2sEHAEAEE R T A A FENERR
REREZNER - it FTRERZH
FERRMOT :

(a) RBEENRE

i B 15 RS & M & E AV IR E (B 30 4
WEARE > ZBEEATRRRC
AR | - 30 R] BEAR I B RE2(i) (i) AR LA
BARAEERENSTERERRE
B8 ZSEEDERINBESBMHR
BREZBERC ARNEREEYRE
AR ] B E AT ORE DRI © fid (3R RL
B RESHSBEATWRESHE 7
Wy [B] < BE 45 O P ER H AR A B2 1
BEMETHNRSE NEEFEMAE
B BEERMEENABRRRESR
EDHBREZHRE  ARBaEKFR
RERAESEEHERHE - ~5H
REEE T W E < 3 S A S JERF
SRNAMENKATENER  BFR
R KFNELERASENFET
SERFRMABEAMEHAMEET - BEHEHE
MEBREHEENTRESBEESE
EAZE WA REHEARRBEE
EREINBESHRBAERE (RER
BRMmME) °

(b) #E

M BMERREBEREREEEL
G RIEREE (NA) BUERE
BATAERFERHITE - ASETEH
ERNEX -BERRERERESR
E R RET A 8 A F 3 R R eREE (W
B)  UEESAEMRSHA AR
MITEMX T8 - AEAFHRNER
BE (WA DREHEREENS
EERIW ST RATZEEERRY
AEENRPEHMEE - HHEBE
B BEERTRE - ARBENFTER
XEERE -

REBHBERAT o 2020F FH 91



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(c)

(a)

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

The credit loss allowance for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about the expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the profit or loss.

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards. All of the
revenue of the Group is recognized over time. Further
details regarding the Group’s principal activities are
disclosed in Note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

(c)

(a)
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() BEETERBRIINREFTFSE

customers by major service lines is as follows: HZ2WBDLIFWOT :
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AR®ET T
Revenue from contracts with REEFEFEHZNE
customers
Disaggregated by major service REERBEDIF :
lines:
- Rail freight transportation —-#REE 260,585 259,065
— Ancillary services — BB AR 7%
- Loading and unloading — 59,814 65,654
- Road freight transportation - BREE 30,305 32,530
- Construction, maintenance — R REREE
and repair 5,358 15,525
- Others —H 5,412 4,130
Subtotal NEE 100,889 117,839
361,474 376,904
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Revenue (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the Group’s customers with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue in the

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(a) 4z ()

(i) MAEZE2020F %2019F 12831
HLEFE  #HBXZSHELERE
EHEFERZB10%NARE

respective years are set out below: BEFHNMOT :
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Customer A ZFEA 63,122 *
Customer B =FB 51,166 57,290
Customer C EFEC 41,152 58,479
Customer D =FD G 39,059
* Transactions with these customers did not exceed * HZEZXFETHRXS T8
10% of the Group’s revenue in the respective years. BASERERFEREHN

10% °

Note: Customer A, Customer B and Customer C each Ktit . BEFA-BEFBREFCEH

includes a group of our customers that are under the
common control of the same ultimate shareholder.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The aggregated amounts of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 are as follows, which
represent revenue expected to be recognised in the
future from construction, maintenance and repair
contracts entered into by the customers with the
Group.

BE-ARERRKRRL
EEBINES -

(i) EHERBRBRRLENRERER
HEENEFAHNEENER

120204 K 20195 12H31H -
PTREFAEERBESNBTEN
BEENRGERBEMNT (A
BN B RER LR B F SR
REBFTMHNER - RERAEE
BHHWER) °

2020 2019

20204 20195

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF T AR®ET T

Within 1 year —FR 2,030 2,190
Over 1 year —FBE 8,408 10,438
10,438 12,628

Details of concentration of credit risks of the Group
are set out in Note 25(a).

EEAKEEEETRRNFS
R B EE25(a) °
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HUAR#IFR)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by provision of

services.

In a manner consistent with the way in which

information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

Canggang Railway Limited e

Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail
freight transportation in the PRC.

Ancillary services: this segment provides freight
loading and unloading services, road freight
transportation and other services in the PRC.

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated
by those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments. The measure used for reporting
segment result is “adjusted operating profit”. To
arrive at adjusted operating profit, the Group’s
operating profit is adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as general and
administration expenses and other income. No inter-
segment revenue has occurred during the year ended
31 December 2020 and 2019. Assistance provided by
one segment to another, including sharing of assets
and technical know-how, is not measured.

The Group’s other income, finance costs and assets
and liabilities are not measured under individual
segments. Accordingly, neither information on
segment assets and liabilities nor information
concerning capital expenditure, interest income and
interest expenses is presented.

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE
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(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

]

PR & ()

pil

Segment results (continued) () DEEFEE(E)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable R E Z20205F K 2019512 A 31
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior HIEFE  BoRERRTED
executive management for the purposes of resource MEREMOAEEZSTHRER
allocation and assessment of segment performance BRENEEB T 2R HPER
for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is HHWMT o
set out below.
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBETT
Revenue from external customers  RENEF NG
- Rail freight transportation —-#REE 260,585 259,065
- Ancillary services — B 100,889 117,839
361,474 376,904
Segment result DEFEE
- Rail freight transportation -HREE 132,392 117,521
— Ancillary services — B BN EK 10,523 22,163
142,915 139,684
Reconciliation of segment results (i) ZEBFELHKR
2020 2019
2020%F 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Segment result DEBEE 142,915 139,684
General and administration expenses —#& & 17 BH X (29,286) (23,338)
Other income HAWA 3,186 2,742
Finance costs Rl E B AR (26,043) (24,654)
Share of loss of associates (R QR EE (1,043) (183)
Consolidated profit before taxation #r& BRFLATEF) 89,729 94,251

Geographic information

The Group’s revenue is substantially generated
from provision of rail freight transportation and
related ancillary services in the PRC. The Group’s
operating assets are substantially situated in the
PRC. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on
geographical locations of the customers and assets is
provided.
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2020 2019

20205 2019%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARBT T

Government grants BURT B B 1,432 155

Interest income FEUA 1,370 1,097

Net gains on investments in wealth HIE@mREWS FE

management products - 142
Net (losses)/gains on disposal of property, HEYE - BERREN

plant and equipment (F518) a5 (12) 784

Others Hib 396 564

3,186 2,742

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): RELADER TR, (BT A) LT EE
B
(a) Finance costs: (@) WERA:
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT T
Total interest expense on bank and RITREMERN
other loans MER B 26,043 27,198
Less: interest expense capitalized into & : ¥1% - MERREZ
property, plant and equipment* BEAREF BB - (2,544)
26,043 24,654
* The borrowing costs were capitalized at a rate of 5.70- * AR Z2019F12A31HILEE - &
6.18% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2019. K 2N 1825.7026.18% B9 & FI| =
FEXK
(b) Staff costs: (b) EI R :
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT T
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMER 52,764 56,031
Contributions to defined contribution [0 & R FGRNGT BIE K
retirement plans 694 7,746
53,458 63,777
The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group REBEPFR (FEBRI) KB K
established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) participate BATINESESHEB M HBRFEMAE
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed B ERBHITEREFTTE - :Z5MH
by the local government authorities. Employees of these EANTNEENREINEEERKER
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated BEEER LMEKRGTEINRKER
based on a percentage of the defined salaries level in the (BRHPE (BBRIIN AEHEKEN
PRC (other than Hong Kong), from the above mentioned HE-_FoLTE) -

retirement plans at their normal retirement age.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Staff costs: (continued)

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
scheme which is registered under a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond the above

B 85 ¥ AR B RE
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(b) BT AA : (&)

AEETRSERBEBAGEARES
sPERAIR L B RBFE LIRS
e (ARS8 BETHREHR

FRErE o

BR RN - ANEEAEEREAA
H AR K48 R B9 H Al B KR -

contributions.

(c) Other items:

(c) HfEE :

2020 2019
20205 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Depreciation e
- property, plant and equipment - BERRKE
(Note 11) (Ht2E11) 32,277 30,362
- right-of-use assets (Note 12) —-EREERE (Mat12) 4,468 4,468
36,745 34,830
Short-term lease charges with BRTHEBAREB12EA W
remaining lease term of not EHEEER
more than 12 months 323 208
Auditors’ remuneration BZERE 2
- annual audit services - FERERKE 1,260 26
- services in connection with the initial —EBEAATRMDEX LT
listing of the Company’s shares BRI 1,432 3,533
Cost of inventories (Note 15(b)) BERAK (Kat15(b)) 25,093 30,265
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) mEBERRANBIEE
represents:
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBETT
Current tax (Note 23(a)) BIEABEIR (M1E23(a))
Provision for the year FREE 24,386 25,303
Deferred tax (Note 23(b)) EERIE (K/7223(0b))
Origination and reversal of EREEEEREE
temporary differences 788 (548)
25,174 24,755

REBHBERAT o 2020F FH 97



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(B Z BB
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HUAR#IFR)

(b) Reconciliations between tax expense and accounting

(b) BEMXEREABRITENE R

profit at applicable tax rates: FIHEER :
2020 2019
20204 20195
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Profit before taxation RREE AT &R A 89,729 94,251
Expected tax on profit before taxation, %ZHBiERE I EEEEANEF
calculated at the rates applicable to B R 5T E R AR
profits in the jurisdictions concerned FOREEETREE
(Notes (i), (ii) and (iii)) (BIEE() ~ (i) B (iii) 24,027 23,713
Tax effect of share of loss of associates FE{LREEE N R EE RIS & 261 47
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A A[H1%i 5 X HIFH 75 52 & 438 630
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERBEEREEEN
recognised as deferred tax assets REABBEENBEEE 448 365
Actual tax expense BERFHIERX 25,174 24,755
Notes: Bz

@

(ii)

(iii)

Canggang Railway Limited e

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands(“BVI”), the Company and the
Group’s BVI subsidiaries are not subject to income tax in
those jurisdictions.

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019:16.5%). These companies
did not have assessable profits which are subject to Hong
Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB Nil).

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries (excluding Hong Kong) are

subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 25%
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 25%).

Annual Report 2020

(i)

(iii)

REFASHERRABELHS (REE
LS ) WRGIRESR ARRRAEE
NEBEZEEMBRARARZEEREERE
BRBARER -

ARATAREBEMRLAMEQRIARE
F2020F12A31A L FEAK16.5%
(20194 : 16.5%) M ERHMB BFE
o RE E2020F12831B L FE > &
g"?ﬂtﬂ”ﬁ%{iﬁ%‘ %I SHRWERE R
FI (20195 : ARME ) o

AEBHFPE (FEEEB)HBEAAR
H £2020F12A31B L FEEAER?2
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

RIBEEE QB IFRHIFE383(1) R R 2 7 (H
BESANZER) ROE2MMENESH

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of WM
Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2020
2020
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in-kind bonuses contributions Total
O F& R
£k BNER BERA  RIGTERK b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  AR%Tn ARETR  AR%Tn ARBTR
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Liu Yongliang Yx=rE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Yi Weiming KR EE 15 110 21 - 146
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua REERE 13 54 21 - 88
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROERE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHITES
Mr. Liu Changchun AREEE 25 - - - 25
Mr. Zhao Changsong BRMEE 25 - - - 25
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERL 25 - - - 25
118 164 42 - 324
2019
2019%
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees . in-kind bonuses  contributions Total
o #d o 2ER R X
BEHe EEH BiEa  RIGHEMR @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  AR®TR ARBT R ARBTT  AR®TR
Executive directors YTES
Mr. Liu Yongliang st - - - - -
Mr. Yi Weiming R@EREE - 94 21 - 115
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua e - 13 21 - 34
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROERE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARBEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Changsong BEMLE - - - - -
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEELL - - - - -
- 107 42 - 149
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one REBERSHFMALH » EF—5 (2019
(2019: Nil) is the director of the Company whose emoluments F . E\)BAQPTES - HENS N8I
are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in EoBRT4% (2019F - HR) AT FHM
respect of the remaining four (2019: five) individuals are as MEEIT ¢
follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Salaries and other emoluments HekEMmiNe 1,191 751
Discretionary bonuses BI1ETEAL 80 53
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRET B 20 81
1,291 885
The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors and BRTERLERSHFMALTELRFERE
who are amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group EPWATHHFMNFUTEER :
are within the following band:
2020 2019
20204 20194
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
Hong Kong dollars (HK$) Nil to F#E 121,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,000 4 5
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(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2020 is calculated based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB63,649,000 (2019: RMB70,194,000) and the weighted
average of 797,814,000 ordinary shares in issue during
the year (2019: 750,000,000 shares after adjusting for the
capitalization issue in 2020), calculated as follows:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(@ EREXREF

B ZE2020F12B31A L EENER
BEAXRBFDERARD AR REN
BRI A R 63,649,000t (20195
AR #70,194,000t) R E AR T 2%
TE @R A9 %797,814,0008%
(20194 : 750,000,0008% (£ 52020
FETWERMLBITERAER)) FTE

mT
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January M1A1ENERTEER 10,000 10,000
Effect of capitalisation issue on the TERBERARBERET
completion of the initial public EREBITHEE
offering (Note 24(c)(iii)) (Bt zt24(c)(iii)) 749,990,000 749,990,000
Effect of shares issued by initial public ERE X AR ERTRNG
offering (Note 24(c)(ii)) VB (BtaE24(c)(i) 47,814,000 -
Weighted average number of ordinary  A12831 BHZER
shares at 31 December InRESE 9 & 797,814,000 750,000,000

Diluted earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(b) BERFHERF

A E 22020F K2019F 128318 1t
FEEMBERTENMMBERER®D -
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

Tracks,
bridges and Buildings  Locomotives Machinery
other railway and other  and rolling Motor and  Construction
assets  properties stock vehicles  equipment in progress Total
8E  GRR BFR BER
Eft#EREE Hits HEEH RE RRRERB ERIE @3t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARET:R
Cost: A
At 1 January 2019 M2019E151A 476,766 152,748 34,444 51,449 93,782 97,254 906,393
Additions HE - 3,063 - 1,315 1,238 12,165 17,781
Transfer in/(out) g)/ (Ey) 50,465 30,843 - 176 26,924 (108,408) -
Disposals HE - (2,980) - (491) (10) - (3,481)
At 31 December 2019 201981231 527,231 183,674 34,444 52,449 121,884 1,011 920,693
Additions HE - - 3,682 521 1,612 3,760 9,481
Transfer in/(out) g)/ (&4) 1,032 - - - 437 (1,469) -
Disposals HE - - - (38) (85) - (123)
At 31 December 2020 #2020512331A 528,263 183,674 38,126 52,938 123,748 3,302 930,051
Accumulated depreciation ~ E3HTER
and impairment losses: HEFE
At 1 January 2019 201961518 (22,556) (17,873) (10,351) (15,632) (34,859) - (101,271)
Charge for the year ERx (7,359) (5,451) (2,790) (5,408) (9,354) - (30,362)
Written back on disposals ~ HERME - 44 - 457 9 - 510
At 31 December 2019 2019812318 (29,915) (23,280) (13,141) (20,583) (44,204) - (131,129)
Charge for the year ERZ (6,774) (6,033) (2,918) (5,506) (11,046) - (32,277)
Written back on disposals ~ HERME - - - 14 62 - 76
_ At31 December 2020 RONF12A31R (6689 (9313 (16059 @607 G518y - (1833
Carrying amount: REE
At 31 December 2020 #2020 12A31R 491,574 154,361 22,067 26,863 68,560 3,302 766,727
At 31 December 2019 #2019812A31R 497,316 160,394 21,303 31,866 717,680 1,011 789,570
Notes: HraE -

(i)  The Group’s property, plant and equipment are all located in the

PRC.

(i) At 31 December 2020, property certificates of certain items of
the Group’s properties with carrying amounts of RMB66,855,000
(2019: RMB70,896,000), were not obtained. The directors of the
Company consider that there is no legal restriction for the Group
to access and use such properties and it should not lead to any
significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group.

(iii) At 31 December 2020, certain amount of the Group’s bank
loans (see Note 19) were secured by buildings of the Group with
carrying amount of RMB8,261,000 (2019: RMB8,581,000).
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(i) M2020F12A318

RSB RFRE

B AR¥66,855,0007T (2019F : AR
#570,896,0007T) K& T Y13 18 B HUIS Y
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

Certain amount of the Group’s other loans

(see Note 19) were

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

Byt ()

(iv) ANEBENETHEMER (RMHEE19) T

secured by following assets of the Group: REBMUTEEFESR
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBTT
Carrying amount: BRIEIE :
Tracks, bridges and other railway assets BHE - EREEMEKREE 97,307 98,457
Buildings and other properties BFEREMYE 13,096 14,012
Locomotives and rolling stock HEREEER 9,522 14,628
Motor vehicles B 15,498 17,687
Machinery and equipment HEERBE 2,913 3,967
138,336 148,751
2020 2019
20204 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETF T
Cost: RN
At 1 January and 31 December M1B1BKX12H31H 223,651 223,651
Accumulated depreciation: Rt eE :
At 1 January MW1A1H 25,796 21,328
Charge for the year FALH 4,468 4,468
At 31 December mi2AstR 30,264 25,796
Carrying amount: ARIEHE :
At 31 December M12A31H 193,387 197,855

Notes:

(i) Right-of-use assets represents lump sum considerations paid or

payable by the Group to acquire leasehold

lands located in the

PRC. These leasehold lands are with lease periods of 48-50 years
and there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of

the land leases.

(i)

loans (see Note 19) were secured by the

At 31 December 2020, certain amount of the Group’s bank

Group’s interests in

leasehold land with carrying amount of RMB119,327,000 (2019:

RMB91,112,000). At 31 December 2020, one

of the Group’s other

loans was secured by the Group’s interests in leasehold land with
carrying amount of RMB7,128,000 (2019: RMB7,290,000).

(iiiy At 31 December 2020, land use right certific

ate of certain pieces

of land of the Group with carrying amount of RMB32,530,000

(2019: RMB33,209,000), respectively, were ye
directors of the Company consider that there
for the Group to access and use such land a

t to be obtained. The
is no legal restriction
nd it should not lead

to any significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group.

REBEBRARAR o

Bt -

() FEAREEEASERBBURTENAE
B I REMH—RENRE - ZZ

HE LMW HEEA48E505F - HRELH
HERRBRFTENSK -

(i) 720206128310 » REEHMHE TR
TERSHE (RHF19) UAEEERR
B 5 A R%119,327,0007T (20194 : A
K #91,112,000t) M E T hERF
I o R2020F 128310 » AEBEF
—BHMERUAEERAEAARY
7,128,0007T (20194 : A R #7,290,000
7o) WHEE LRSI o

(i) 20205128310 » AEBE SR IRE
E5 A R®32,530,0007T (20195 : AR
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

Percentage of ownership interest

RERELEAL
Place and date Particulars of The Group's
of establishment/ registered/issued effective  Held by the  Held by the  Principal
Company name incorporation and paid-in capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries ~ activities
AL/ ERAL i/ B3R ASEN  ARRE  AWELR

LR%EE HERAH BHEAGHE ERELR 58 BE IERE

Puji Global Limited (“Puji Global”)  The BVI 1 share of United States 100% 100% - Investment holding

(EERRERAR)™ 18 October 2018 Dollars (“US$”) 1 each

EERRERAR ([EERR])  ABRLES 1REREEIER REZR

2018105188 ([%7n]) Wik
Canggang Railway International The BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited 29 October 2018
(BEERERERAR)™
RRERARERAT™ ABRLHE 1REREBIZTHRA REER
20185108 29H
Can g ng Company The PRC RMB347,884,681 100% - 100%  Provision of rail freight
Viarﬁﬁfl%ﬁ RAa) 22 October 2009 transportation and related
ancillary services by
operating freight railway
and railway yards

BNERERARLE el ARH347,884,6817 pTerd u@‘»&%m%miiﬁ

20095108228 RUEERSERREHNRE

Hebei Jinghai International Logistics  The PRC RMB60,000,000 51% - 51%  Provision of logistics agency

Development Company Limited 20 July 2017 services
(“Jinghai International’ )
(/-Ht REEABMAERLA)
M REERIRERAT e AER%60,000,0007 RUMRRERE
([RGER]) 2017£7520H
Ganggang Railway (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited 5 December 2018
(B (F%) BRAR)™
RRER (B8) RO E# 187 REER
2018512858

Puji Railway Global Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100%  Investment holding

(BERRERERAR)™ 28 December 2018

EERRERERAR™ # 187 REER

2018512828
Cangzhou Railway Logistics The PRC HK$10,000,000 and HKSNil 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Services Company Limited 14 February 2019
(“Cangzhou Logistics”)
(EMEENRERAF)"
ENEEIRARAA hE 10,000 0008 TR EAT REZR
(FEMR]) = 2019F2714H

Notes: Kiat -

*  The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English * ZEERNEIABRBAPXERE  HIGE
translations are for identification purpose only. These companies BIEMERZ A - ZEQRANRPERL
are limited liability companies established in the PRC. WEREBELR -

*  The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English * ZEBRBNEXEBATNER > RGER
translation is for identification purpose only. This company is EHER 2 A - ZARBREPBEEET
registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC MW EBEELE -

Law.

**  These companies are limited liability companies incorporated * ZEDNRBRPEBIIREBIMALN

outside of the PRC or in Hong Kong. BREMEALQT

104 Canggang Railway Limited e
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The following table lists out the information relating to Jinghai
International, the subsidiary of the Group which has a material
non-controlling interest (NCI). The summarized financial
information presented below represents the amounts before

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

TREJEFEEBEBENER - Z2AH
REEREEEARFERES ((FERE
m]) BT o THMBERBERFE
ERAEEEE AN EEE -

any inter-company elimination.

2020 2019

20204 2019%

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBT T

NCI percentage FEREREOL 49% 49%
Non-current assets IRBEE 66,243 68,427
Current assets REEE 4,178 4,769
Current liabilities nBEeE (10,561) (15,186)
Net assets EEFE 59,860 58,010
Carrying amount of NCI FERERKREE 29,331 28,425
2020 2019

20204 20195

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBT T

Revenue W= 6,470 909
Profit/(loss) for the year FERAN (FE) 1,850 (1,425)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to NCI ~ FEi= R eSS FE(R F EER, (F518) 906 (698)
Cash flows from operating activities RETHIBRERNE 2,018 (508)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFMERENE (2,620) (4,627)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHAERERE (121) 4,986
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Details of the Group’s interest in associates, which are ERAERNBE  NTINER HAER
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated EREEMBRRAAR)FBOT ¢

financial statements, are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

RERERLD
Place and date of Group's
establishment and Particulars of issued effective ~ Held by the Held by a
Name of associate business and paid-in capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
RIREE ERTREM
Benath BEREH BRE ARENEREE mALNARE HMELANE IEXR
Cangzhou Bohai New Area Huanghua  The PRC RMB10,000,000 40% - 40%  Provision of railway
Port Railway Logistics Company 16 January 2013 logistics services
Limited (‘Huanghua Port Railway")*
(EMHSHERERERIRARL )
ENDENEEERERNTERLT P8 AR#10,000,0007 RESRIRRR
([EERER]) 2013%1516A
Cangzhou City Shangcheng Business  The PRC RMB30,000,000 and 40% - 40%  Trading of construction
Trading Co., Ltd. (“Shangcheng”)* 24 April 2020 RMB10,000,000 materials
(BNTHHEEERAR)
ENTEIEEERAT HE AE#30,000,000 R BEMBES
(el ) - 2000F 4524 ABR#10,000,0007%
*  The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English * ZEERNERNEBAPNEE KXE
translation names are for identification purpose only. ZEMEA A -
Huanghua Port Railway is a strategic partner for the Group AR ARNERETENILERILE
in expanding railway logistics services in Hebei Province and BIEEEHBRYRBENEKRES/EREME -
Shandong Province of the PRC.
Shangcheng is a strategic partner for the Group in developing HBANEBERERAMNTEMYIATE 2
the market for construction materials logistics in Cangzhou. BEESEBMYE-
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

Summarized financial information of the associates, adjusted ZEBENTINMBEERBE (et
for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the BENEMZE/FEHBAE  WELESITE
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are BEANVRAEETHR)RENT ¢
disclosed below:
Huanghua Port Railway Shangcheng
2020 2019 2020
20204 20194 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Gross amounts of the associates’ Hi& N\ LA T & 18
E’JIVD
Non-current assets ERDEE 5,783 6,379 8
Current assets RBEE 880 2,383 9,709
Current liabilities REBAE (24) 8) (210)
Equity = 6,639 8,754 9,507
Reconciled to the Group’s HEAEBAEE AT
interests in associates FESNEER
Gross amounts of net assets BEELR 6,639 8,754 9,507
The Group’s effective interest AEBNERERE 40% 40% 40%
The Group’s share of net assets 4ZRA TR NER
and the carrying amount inthe ~ MAEEELEE
consolidated statements of FEREEE
financial position 2,656 3,502 3,803
Huanghua Port Railway Shangcheng
2020 2019 2020
20204 20194 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR
Gross amounts of the associates’ W%@TL}{T%IE
HOFS
Revenue g - - 4,138
Loss and total comprehensive  BERZHE KL
income (2,115) (458) (493)
Reconciled to the Group’s HEAKBEAEE AT
interests in associates FESMEER
Gross amounts of loss and total EER2HNEHAEE
comprehensive income BT &8 (2,115) (458) (493)
The Group’s effective interest REBHERER 40% 40% 40%
The Group’s share of loss of RNE B
associates DRINEE (846) (183) (197)
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

15 INVENTORIES

(a)

(b)

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:

15 F &

(a)

REMBRRRANEFERRE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Fuel R 1,971 2,409
Materials and consumables MR R FEA 3,933 2,600
5,904 5,009

The analysis of the amounts of inventories recognized

(b) EERA/MIAFABENEFESH

as an expense and included in profit or loss is as a1 N
follows:
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®T T
Carrying amount of inventories used EFERAFENREE 25,093 30,265

16 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

16 EZ BN RERERRE

2020 2019

20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARBT T

Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE 50,364 74,055
Bills receivables (Notes (ii) and (iii)) BWERIE (KR (i) 46,204 60,803
96,568 134,858

Notes:

@

(i)

(iii)

108 Canggang Railway Limited e

All of the trade and bills receivables, net of loss allowance, are
expected to be recovered within one year.

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of the Group’s bills
receivables that have been endorsed to the Group’s suppliers
and other creditors to settle the Group’s trade and other payables
towards these suppliers but have not been derecognized in the
consolidated financial statements were RMB9,903,000 (2019:
RMB10,302,000).

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of the Group’s bills
receivables that have been factored to banks but have not been
derecognized in the consolidated financial statements were
RMB5,000,000 (2019: RMB14,620,000).
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(iii)

FRAEESEWHRERERREE HIREER
BE) E B R - FRARE -

M2020F12831H  AEBMEEEF R
EEMEEREMEREAUNEERESRE
TS EHEENE S R HE B FRIEB
FARGEETBRRERALBERNERZIEN
BREI{E A A R1£9,903,0007T (20194 : A
R #10,302,0007T) °

2020128310 AEBEERE FR
TEMAREEUERRKREBIANE
WZEWIRMEE A A R¥5,000,0007T
(20194 : AR#14,620,0005T) °
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B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

16 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 16 ESERFREREKREE
(continued) (&)
Aging analysis BRER AT
At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of RIBEHR  ERREZERREHKRER
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss BREANEZENFERBESFAOT :
allowance, is as follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTR

Within 1 month 1EAR 26,858 39,887
1-6 months 126188 15,722 30,437
6-12 months 6E1218 B 2,873 3,731
more than 12 months 12 B L k£ 4,911 -

50,364 74,055
Trade receivables are mainly due within 30 days from the date BN EBTENREEQHA#EET30K A
of billing. Bills receivables are with maturity of 180 to 360 E|ER - EIREIEMNEIEAH A180E 360K ©
days. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit EEANEECERELEE S ERFTER
risk arising from trade and bills receivables are set out in Note EWEEmEECERENE —SHESH
25(a). AKIEE25(a) ©
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

2020 2019
2020%F 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T
Receivables relating to disposal of EHHEYIE BMERRKRS
property, plant and equipment BENERRIE 10,142 11,451
Financial assets measured REBENTTENEREE
at amortized cost 10,142 11,451
Value-added tax recoverable ] Y [E] 1B {E FR 1,830 2,208
Deposits we 1,179 1,454
Prepayments for purchase of FERBRAREREMNEX
inventories and prepaid expenses 2,166 2,688
Prepayments in connection with the BEBARLATRMODER
initial listing of the Company’s shares EHWTENATIRE - 5,222
15,317 23,023
Less: Non-current portion A JEENHERER
- Receivables relating to disposal —HEHENE BER
of property, plant and equipment FER BN EWRIE (2,734) (3,374)
Current portion of prepayments and FEAS FRIE K H At B U FRIE
other receivables HY BN HAEB 12,583 19,649

Note:

Bt -

Except for the non-current portion of receivables relating to disposal
of property, plant and equipment, which are expected to be recovered
in 2-3 years, other prepayments and other receivables, net of loss
allowance, are expected to be recovered or recognized as expenses

BREZHEME - ME R REARE N ENREIEN
RIS GEE SR E3FERIRE) 5 - Hit
T FIA R A EWROR (RMBREEEE) &
HER-—FAREREZBMAE

within one year.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise

(@ RERAESEEERBBHRE

2020 2019

20204 20195

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥T T

Bank deposits RITER 227,115 33,833

Cash on hand FEES 28 33

Cash at bank and on hand in the AR RERAKN

consolidated statement of financial RITRFHEBEESUR
position and cash and cash FEHEERERAMN
equivalents in the consolidated cash RekREEEER

flow statement 227,143 33,866
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(br =2 BE I

(b) Reconciliations of assets and liabilities arising from (b)
financing activities

The tables below detail changes in the Group’s assets
and liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Assets and liabilities arising from
financing activities are assets and liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated cash flow statements as cash flows

HUARHSTF)

METBDFELEEREBNYER

TRAMAEEHEMEEFHELNE
ERAENEY (BEREKRIFERSE
28 METHELNEERER
AHEHBEREBFRRBEESRENEE
BHReRERBRNE D ERESE
AREBEFTDNRESRENEER

from financing activities. aE o
Liabilities Assets
g EE
Amounts due
Bank and Amounts due to from related
other loans  related parties parties Total
BAR FEfF i
2t EF BERLE BERIE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NS NS AR#TT AR¥TT
(Note 19)
(3E19)
At1 January 2020 H202051818 561,331 - - 561,331
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERERD
Proceeds from new bank and FERTREMERNFAERE
other loans 345,000 - - 345,000
Repayments of bank and other loans BERTREMER (450,272) - - (450,272)
Borrowing costs paid ERERAA (26,866) - - (26,866)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BEHEHEZHEH (132,138) - - (132,138)
Other changes: A8
Interest expenses on bank and RORAMESRREEL
other loans (Note 6(z)) (Hii6/2) 26,043 - - 26,043
Totalotherchanges  ReRBA® 603 - - 26,043
At 31 December 2020 20206123318 455,236 - - 455,236
BEBEBRARAR o 2020FFH 111



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 HEeRBEEEEA (&)
(continued)
(b) Reconciliations of assets and liabilities arising from (b) RMEETBMELEEEREBENYHER
financing activities (continued) (#)
Liabilities Assets
& EE

Amounts due
Bank and  Amounts due to from related

other loans  related parties parties Total
/TR JEf El

HtER BERTE BERNE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT AR#T R
(Note 19) (Note 27(c)) (Note 27(c))
(Riz£19) (zE27(c) (HzE27(c))

At 1 January 2019 #2019%151A 425,791 310 (132,276) 293,825
Changes from financing cash flows: RERLRELE
Proceeds from new bank and other loans ¥R 1T R At EFHFEHE 397,313 - - 397,313
Repayments of bank and other loans BERTREMER (262,943) - - (262,943)
Distribution paid N2k - (361,183) - (361,183)
Decrease in amounts due from related ~ EWEEAFERHD
parties - - 132,276 132,276
Decrease in amounts due to related ERBERFERS
parties - (310) - (310)
Borrowing costs paid EREREA (26,028) - - (26,028)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BER&HEEBAE 108,342 (361,493) 132,276 (120,875)
Other changes: Hfhed
Interest expenses on bank and other RORAMESHEEL
loans (Note 6(a)) (fit6(z) 24,654 - - 24,654
Capitalized borrowing costs (Note 6z)  ERLEHAA (Hit6(s) 2,544 - - 2,544
Acaquisitions of equity interests of Wi R RRE
Canggang Company - 361,183 - 361,183
Totalotherchanges  Hbg@AR 088 s T 388,381
At 31 December 2019 1201961273318 561,331 - - 561,331
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSRBLALE
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement STAGEHARERNHEESESLRE
for leases comprise the following: AT &8 :
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AR®ETT

Within operating cash flows: EREREREA -
- Lease rental paid -BEffHEHES (293) (80)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS 19 RITREMER
(a) The Group’s bank and other loans comprise: (a) XEEMRITREMERBIE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Bank loans: IRITER -
— Secured -5 369,086 251,002
- Unsecured — EIK 30,045 60,094
399,131 311,096

Other loans: HMER -
- Secured —BiKHF 37,028 72,782
- Unsecured — KR 19,077 177,453
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 96,105 250,235
455,236 561,331
All of the bank and other loans are carried at amortized FESRTREMETIREBHEK KT

costs. BE o
(b) The bank and other loans were repayable as follows: (b) RITREMEREEFEZEDT :

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Within 1 year or on demand —FRHZRER 118,051 290,999
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWER 163,085 57,147
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBBRAFER 174,100 213,185
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 337,185 270,332
455,236 561,331
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(c) At 31 December 2020, the Group’s secured bank loans of

RMB369,086,000 (2019: RMB251,002,000) were secured
by the following assets of the Group:

(c) M2020%F12H31B ' XEBHHA
F #369,086,0007t (20194 : A B
#£251,002,0007t) W B K HRTE
RIDUAREBH TR EEFIKA -

2020 2019
20204 20195
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBT T
Carrying amount: BRMEE :

Right-of-use assets (Note 12(ij) EREEE (Ba12(i) 119,327 91,112

Property, plant and equipment ME - BMEREE
(Note 11(iii) (HFaE11(iii)) 8,261 8,581
Bills receivables (Note 16(iij) BRI (KEE16(i) 5,000 14,620
132,588 114,313

Included in the Group’s secured bank loans as at 31
December 2020, RMB85,115,000 were also guaranteed
by Cangzhou Logistics (2019: RMB34,054,000 were also
guaranteed by Cangzhou Logistics and secured by the
future rail transportation revenue of the Group).

(d) At 31 December 2020, the Group’s secured other loans of
RMB37,028,000 (2019: RMB72,782,000) were secured by
the following assets of the Group:

K E B A2020F12A31B M A K 7
RITERY > AHARKYS5,115,000
THESETHAEMNYRIEHER
(20194 : AR ™®34,054,0007 78
BEMNYDRIREIERE RSB R R
HEEBEBWRIEER) o

(d) MA2020%F12H831B ' XEBAHEH A
K #£37,028,0007T (20195 : AR
72,782,0007t) W EBRBEMERTD
DAREEWN Tl EEMFEIKE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®T T
Carrying amount: BREME -

Property, plant and equipment Y BERRZE
(Note 11(iv)) (K1aE11(iv)) 138,336 148,751
Right-of-use assets (Note 12(ii)) FEREERE (Ma12(i) 7,128 7,290
145,464 156,041

Included in the Group’s secured other loans as at 31
December 2020, RMB16,563,000 (2019: RMB42,636,000)
were also guaranteed by Cangzhou Logistics and secured
by equity interests of Canggang Company held by
Cangzhou Logistics.

(e) Included in the Group’s unsecured other loans as at 31
December 2020, RMB16,407,000 (2019: RMB172,287,000)
are unsecured, interest-bearing at 1% per annum
and repayable in 2022. The remaining other loans are
unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.75% per annum and
repayable in 2021.
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AREEMN2020F12831BNEERFH
fmERF - B A K¥16,563,0007T
(20194 : AR #42,636,0007T) &
BB AMIRIBEHERRIUAMNY
TREENABATRAERERI -

(e) AEEMNR2020F12831H WWEIK#H
HtEFH+ » B ARY16,407,000
7t (20194 : AR #172,287,0007T)
HEEAEKT - ZEFNRI1%FE
R BR2022F B - A T EMEFA|
BEIKE - BRENRIT5%FTERE
PA2021FEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All of the trade payables are expected to be settled within one
year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of
the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

FAESENRBEMERN —FREFD
AREREER -

RI|BEMR - AREEZBARERERE
SHUWREINOT :

follows:

2020 2019
2020 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®T T
Within 1 month 1B AR 8,851 10,189
1 to 3 months 12318 B 6,254 5,323
3 to 6 months 3Z6{EA 4,454 5,451
6 to 12 months 621218 A 3,367 2,886
Over 12 months 1288 Lk 3,907 3,851
26,833 27,700
2020 2019
2020 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®T T
Payables for acquisitions of property, WEEME - BERREN
plant and equipment FEAS 58 7,265 14,057
Payables for acquisitions of right-of-use YR B&{F FAHEE E B 7B
assets
- related parties (Note 27(d)) —-BER (Kit27(d)) - 8,032
— third parties —%= 29,484 24,484
Payables for staff costs BT AREMTRIE 12,636 15,861
Payables for other labor costs H th 25 B 1) B AN FE A FRIE 1,634 2,411
Payables for expenditures incurred in MRAARROER LT
connection with the initial listing of EENEMNEX
the Company’s shares 400 6,810
Others Hith 4,064 4,090
Financial liabilities measured at REERATENEHEE
amortized cost 55,483 75,745

All of the other payables are expected to be settled within one
year or are repayable on demand.

PG LB (4 BB T A I — AR
RERME -
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Prepayments received from customers BEFWENEREER
for rail freight transportation and HE EA B IR B TR A R IR

related ancillary services

2,524 2,630

The Group receives prepayments from certain customers on
acceptance of the orders. The prepayments are recognized
as contract liabilities until the Group recognized the related

revenue.

Movements in contract liabilities

REMFTER - AEBE@EETEF R
BENHE BENRELRIBRENEE
EEAEERIAMBEWREHL -

EHEBERS
2020 2019
20204 20198
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Balance at 1 January 1 A1 B NaSER 2,630 2,229
Decrease in contract liabilities as RAERBERREDTTA

a result of recognizing revenue BRNEBENREEH

during the year that was included WENEERD

in the contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (2,630) (2,229)
Increase in contract liabilities as RERKREN AR ERE

a result of billing in advance of I EHNEa/EIEmMm

performance at the end of the year 2,524 2,630
Balance at 31 December MW12 831 B4 ER 2,524 2,630

No contract liabilities are expected to be recognized as revenue

after more than one year.

(a) Movements of current taxation in the consolidated

(a) #RE BT RABH IR S B0

statement of financial position are as follows: L
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETF T
Income tax payable at 1 January M1A1ENERFREH 8,501 5,941
Provision for the year (Note 7(a)) FREE (Bit7(@) 24,386 25,303
Income tax paid S EH (23,625) (22,743)
Income tax payable at 31 December R12831 B ESREHR 9,262 8,501
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(b)

(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred tax assets recognized

The deferred tax assets recognized in the consolidated

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(b) ERABELEREEE
FRRGS BN REZNELES

statement of financial position and the movements during BHEERESHWOT :
the year are as follows:
Depreciation Credit loss
of property,  Impairment of  Depreciation allowance
gLsagEs plant and ~ property, plant ~of right-of-use on trade Accrued
Deferred tax assets arising from: UTREEE: equipment  and equipment assets  receivables expenses Others Total
WEEER WEBER EEEREN
REFE  REHE GREEERE GERRER  EIEX A 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTr  ARRTR  ARRTn  ARETR
At 1 January 2019 2019518 1H 2,99 749 572 298 2410 580 7,661
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (MBA)/HAES (379) (143) 207 148 313 402 548
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 201912831 K
202051A1R 2,613 606 m 446 2,783 982 8,209
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (MkA)/HAEE (56) (141) 168 904 (963) (700) (788)
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12A318 2,557 465 947 1,350 1,820 282 742

Deferred tax assets not recognized

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
2(q), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMBS3,669,000 at
31 December 2020 (2019: RMB1,612,000), as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available to the relevant
subsidiaries. The tax losses expire within the next five
years from it incurred.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognized

At 31 December 2020, taxable temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong)
amounted to RMB402,841,000 (2019: RMB340,232,000),
where deferred tax liabilities in respect of the PRC
Withholding Tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these profits, have not been recognized as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it
has been determined that it is probable that such profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

(c) ABAMNELEHEEE

RIBMF20)FTEHNEFTEHE K&
B I £ 5 A2020F 128318 €8 A
AER#3,669,0007T (20195 : AR
1,612,0007t) MR IBEERAIE
EFRIEEE  RRIZAEBEMRBART
RO BEE R TR FERRF 5 A LUK 85 AT 4
BRACHIEEE HEBERELER
FFEREH -

(d AREZNEZEHEEE

7A2020%F12831H » EEAREBE RS
(TEBHEEB)RIHNKBELTW
ADTENEBENERHERZES
A R #402,841,0007T (20194 : A
[E#340,232,0007t) ' EFEBRSD
TRZE B SEA P BEEINFRNIE
EFRIBEBEEEAER  FRREAAT
BHZEWNBATNKERE I
BEEBE N TETIENTTEER KR
DK °
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B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

(a)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balance of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes

(a)

AN NER

AEBGREER AR D NFDE
FREHNHRANGAEDZLD
%o

in equity.

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual

N B8 Bl A 5 AE R ER 0 Y HA ) EE AR

components of equity between the beginning and the end RINBENEBTHRN T -
of the period are set out below.
Share Share Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
kA& ki aE B ZiHER L h
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%BTr AR%ETr ARETrn ARETx
(Note 24(c))  (Note 24(d)(i)) (Note 24(d)(v))
(Wzkoa(c))  (MizFoa(d)) (MizFo4(d)))
At 1 January 2019 #2019%1A1A = - - - =
Changes in equity for the year 220195127318
ended 31 December 2019: LEENERES
Loss for the year FEFR - - - (443) (443)
Other comprehensive income A2 E KR - - () - )
Total comprehensive income FERENRAR
oteyew - e O N
At 31 December 2019 and 12019128318 R
1 January 2020 2020%1A1A - - ) (443) (448)
Changes in equity for the year 220206127318
ended 31 December 2020; LEENERSS
Loss for the year FEBR - - - (6,118) (6,118)
Other comprehensive income Hib2EkE - - (3,611) - (3,611)
Total comprehensive income EEREKRAE
for the year - - (3,611) (6,118) (9,729)
Capitalisation issue (Note 24(c)ii)) EAMLBT (2240 6,455 (6,455) - - -
Issuance of shares by initial public BREANHRERT
offering (Note 24(c)fi) R (Hiz2ac)i) 2152 186,905 . - 189,057
At 31 December 2020 2020512318 8,607 180,450 (3,616) 6561 178,880

* Amounts less than RMB1,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS/
DISTRIBUTIONS (continued)

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

The directors of the Company do not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31

December 2020.

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous year

The directors of the Company have not approved or
paid dividends in respect of the previous year during
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHZHI  UAREST)

24 X - EERRE DK
(&)
(b) RE
()  FREMNKL ] RFHRE
AABEETEZHEZ2020
F12A31BLEFERMSGRER

=
SN

(i) £—FEENEKLAREZKRA
R E

RE E2020F128318 1IE&F
B AATEEVERL—FE
HESRMN R E (20194 : )

(c) Share capital (c) B
2020 2019
20204 20195
No. of shares No. of shares
RAEE R EE
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
T TERT TR FAERT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of BRO.01IEBTHNERER
HK$0.01 each (Note()) (HE() 10,000,000 100,000 38,000 380
2020 2019
20204 20195
No. of shares No. of shares
BRHBEE R EE
000 RMB’000 ’000 RMB’000
Tt AR¥TR TR AR®ET R
Ordinary shares, issued ERTRBEEER
and fully paid
At 1 January M1 A1H 10 = 10 -
Capitalisation issue BRLE#IT
(Note (iii) (W i) 749,990 6,455 - -
Issuance of shares (Note (ii) BT (B2 (i) 250,000 2,152 - -
1,000,000 8,607 10 =
* Amounts less than RMB1,000. * ST E AKYE1,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(c) Share capital (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

120 Canggang Railway Limited e

Authorised share capital

On 19 October 2018, the Company’s date of
incorporation, the Company’s authorized share capital
was HK$380,000, comprising 38,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each.

On 16 June 2020, the Company passed resolutions to
increase the authorized share capital of the Company
from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares
of HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

Issue of shares

On 19 October 2018, one share in the Company was
allotted and issued. On the same date, 9,071 shares
and 478 shares were allotted and issued, respectively,
at par value.

On 21 December 2018, 450 shares were allotted and
issued at par value.

On 23 October 2020, 250,000,000 ordinary shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each were issued at a
price of HK$0.95 each by initial public offering.
The proceeds of HK$2,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2,152,000), representing the
par value, were credited to the Company’s share
capital. The remaining proceeds, net of share
issuance expenses, of approximately HK$217,580,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB186,905,000) were
credited to the share premium account.

Capitalisation issue

Pursuant to the resolutions of the equity shareholders
of the Company passed on 16 June 2020, the
Company allotted and issued a total of 749,990,000
shares credited as fully to the equity shareholders
whose names appeared on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on 16
June 2020 by way of capitalisation of the sum
of HK$7,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB6,455,000) standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company.

Annual Report 2020

(c)

R (&)

()

(ii)

(iii)

EERA

201810819 (BIA 2 7
MR ZA) AATWE
E R K £380,0008 T 0 B FE
38,000,0008% = IR E {E0.018
TTHEER -

M2020F6H16H » KA T B
BRBREADNAEZERAH
380,000 7t (% 38,000,000
REREECOIETHNR®D)
# 51 £100,000,00058 T (9
#10,000,000,000% & R E &
0.01BTHIBR M) °

RITR G

M2018F 108198 » " 7] —
R DEE KT - RER
9,0718% K 4788% IR 17 o Bl 2 M
BEEmRBERET

20185128218  4500% B&
DIREEEER R R EIT -

MHN2020%F10H 238 -
250,000,0008% &= % M {50.01
BTHNEBEREBEXRXAH
BERFR09BTHERE
2% 1T - A 82,500,000 T (48
ERHARM2,152,0007T) B
FrExE (EHEREMAE) B
ARRDRB AR - 8T ATBRK
H (KRBT XIER) Y
217,580,000 5t (HE R A
K #186,905,000) & 5 A % 12
REIRA o

BRI #ZT

RIEA LD TR R EN20208F
6H16EBBHRER AR FH
EBBAQNTDRMDEERPEL
7,500,000/ 8 c (HMERHV AR
#56,455,0007T) RUERIER X
BARPFTR » MHR2020F6516
AEEBFEERIFEYARQT MR
REMOEZR RO REBTE
$£749,990,0008% A BRFIEH 2
BB 17 o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

Other reserve

The balances of other reserve at 31 December 2020
and 2019 represent the capital reserve of Canggang
Company and Puji Global.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Company’s subsidiaries established
and operated in Mainland China are required to
transfer 10% of their net profit to the statutory
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the respective registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distributions to
equity holders. This reserve can be utilized in setting
off accumulated losses or increase capital of the
subsidiaries and is non-distributable other than in
liquidation.

Safety production fund reserve

The Group is engaged in freight transportation
business. In accordance with the regulations issued
by Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Work Safety of the PRC, the Group is required to
establish a special reserve namely safety production
fund reserve, which is calculated at 1% of the regular
freight transportation revenue and 1.5% of the
dangerous goods freight transportation revenue of the
previous year.

The safety production fund reserve is mainly used for
the acquisitions and maintenance of safety equipment
and facilities. For the purpose of financial statements,
such reserve is established through an appropriation
from retained earnings based on the aforementioned
method and is utilized when the related expenditures
are incurred.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BrZ BEBI  UARKEST)

(d) RENEERAE

()

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

REBEBRARAR o

R E

RO EERNEASHERS
NEEFE22F (19615F 5E355 5%
5l BIRERIEE]) EE -

Htuf# e

FA20204 F2019F12A31A MY
Hibf#EERIERB AT REE
BRI E RN fFHE -

EE

RIBPBEMBBEEZERER A0
B R 1 R 3L % B Y Y
RNEAEBEREREN10%E R
BRELEMHE  EERBEAR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(e)

122 Canggang Railway Limited *

(v) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
difference arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the companies comprising the Group
into the Group’s presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in Note 2(t).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by the management of the Group, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 2%
(2019:11%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and 28% (2019:19%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the five largest customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables at

(a) FERR(H)

BEZRWIE (&)

THREHABEAKERSHREHRE
HWEERRKE S REFUERBIE

the end of each reporting period: EEIENER
2020
2020

Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HHEEE HIREE BEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBT T AR®T
Current and less than 6 months past due BEIEi R EIHI T 2618 B 1.05% 43,236 (454)
6 - 12 months past due 6= 1218 A 24.82% 4,399 (1,092)
Over 12 months past due BEER121EA 31.78%-100.00% 8,134 (3,859)
55,769 (5,405)

2019

2019%F
Expected  Gross carrying

loss rate amount  Loss allowance
HHEER HERE(E BEER
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREEF T ARMEF T
Current and less than 6 months past due BIEi R BIHI 7 2618 A 0.06% 72,084 (46)
6 — 12 months past due mH6=12M8 A 18.57% 2,477 (460)
Over 12 months past due BEEB12EA 100.00% 1,284 (1,284)
75,845 (1,790)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the year
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.
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(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(a) FERR(H)
EBEZREWNIE (&)
B RUREEBRERERNED

trade receivables are as follows: mr
2020 2019
2020 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥TT
At the beginning of the year REH 1,790 1,195

Impairment loss recognized FRERWREESE

during the year 3,615 595
At the end of the year RER 5,405 1,790

The increase in the loss allowance at 31 December 2020
was mainly contributed by the increase of the gross
carrying amounts of trade receivables in days past due
over 12 months.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the respective
reporting period) and the earliest dates the Group can be
required to pay:

A20205F 12831 B WA B E M
FTEEHRANEHI2ERU LENEZE
RIE AR BRTE (B G AN AT 2L -

(b) FBESEB

FEENBRAEHERRDESE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5 BEBHI  UARIEST)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

25 cREAREEREMIA

D E (F)

(b) REBESEE ()

2020
2020F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRERA LR
More than
Within1 More than1 2 years but
year or on year but less less than Carrying
demand than 2 years 5 years Total amount
—FR BE-F BBmEF
FREX  BORWE  EOREF @t RAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETr ARETrn AR¥Trn AR%ETx
Bank and other loans BTREME 136,122 183,326 176,777 496,225 455,236
Trade payables measured at REBHRATER
amortized cost ESEARE 26,833 - - 26,833 26,833
Other payables measured at RBHEKATEN
amortized cost Hit IR 55,483 - - 55,483 55,483
218,438 183,326 176,777 578,541 537,552
2019
20195
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHAERRSR
More than
Morethan1 2 years but
Within 1 year  year but less less than Carrying
oron demand  than 2 years 5 years Total amount
—ER BE-F BBmE
FEEX  EORWE  EIREE by REE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETx
Bank and other loans RTREMER 307,051 62,874 218,413 588,338 561,331
Trade payables measured at REBHARTER
amortized cost EARANE 27,700 - - 27,700 27,700
Other payables measured at REHEHATTEN
amortized cost At EAFE 75,745 - - 75,745 75,745
410,496 62,874 218,413 691,783 664,776
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(c)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-
bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates
and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively.

(i)

(i)

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(c) FIEREK
AEBNANZRABREIEREFEE
o &ﬁ@ﬂ?&lm%u?ﬁém’y{%
REAEESHHHRESRERNER
(7SN M?{E%U?Hﬁ’ﬁ«’

() FIFEHE

TREVAEEREHREHRD

the Group’s borrowings at the end of each reporting ERFREEFHE
period:
2020 2019
20205 20195
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
YIRS B A=
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% AR®T R % AR®ETR
Fixed rate borrowings B EFEERK
Bank loans BITEN 3.00% - 6.18% 399,131 3.00% - 6.18% 311,096
Other loans HiEM 1.00% - 4.75% 19,077 1.00% - 4.75% 177,453
418,208 488,549
Variable rate borrowings FEANEREN
Other loans HEER 6.01% - 6.92% 37,028 6.01% - 6.92% 72,782
Total borrowings BB 455,236 561,331
Fixed rate borrowings as Bk ESEEN
a percentage of total borrowings ~ fEREBNES 92% 87%
Sensitivity analysis (i) BEE T
At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general A2020%F12831H » iR A =
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest BEFAHTE1001EE 24
rates, with all other variables held constant, would T MEATEEMEERIERE
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax 51—;3_72‘5(2]&$l R B EMNR

and retained profits by approximately RMB278,000
(2019: RMB546,000).

The sensitivity analyses above indicate the Group’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at 31 December 2020. The impact on
the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) is
estimated as an impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2019.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(d) Currency risk

(d)

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily HK$.

The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies
at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,

EXRER

AEEFESNEEREREZERA U
S (BNERZHEEEBN RS
LN EHE) SHE R EWEIE ~ B
RERREER - SIBULERARNE
WEERBIT

REERREB NS 2L BIHIE R
BEAREHIINSUBREHREE
W fem S F R R IT R A EZ AKX

N7 o

(i)  FRS Y E R

TREIARERIREHARE
HELEEERNEEEUINE
WHENCHIAEESEEM
EENEREAR - S2HE WM
5 FERERNEERFE
ANENHERBRENARES

translated using the spot rate at the year end date. N °
Exposure to
foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB)
SIS [ s
(UAR®TITR)
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents BHeRBREEEER 184,540 437
Prepayment and other receivables TR FRIR R H A UL FRIE 42 48
Other payables Hith {5018 (54) (124)
Exposure arising from recognised BEeRIAEERERE
assets and liabilities EAERER 184,528 361
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

(d) E%WEE (&)
(i) BHERE DT

TREREBERREEN (R
REER) EAEERREHR
AZEXERIERNZARE
B (BRRAA M EERE
EEFTE)NBERTUEHER
HYBNBS 2 E) o

2020 2019

2020%F 20195
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)in Increase/ (decrease)in
(decrease) profit after tax (decrease)  profit after tax
in foreign and retained in foreign and retained
exchange rates profits  exchange rates profits
BB &RT BB R
Ext#/ RARBET EXtH/ REBET
(FB)  #m/(82) (FB) &/ (8)
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% ARBTR % AR¥TFR
HKS$ BT 5% 9,226 5% 18
(5%) (9,226) (5%) (18)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and
retained profits measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2019.

(e) Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortized cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2019 and
2020.

EXR2INDIMERAKREEE
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7 e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of each reporting RERE R R ZAE KRR B RE
period not provided for in the financial statements were as FTRBENEARRENT !
follows:
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Commitments in respect of property, EBWE - - BMERSEE

plant and equipment: Y 7RIE -

- Contracted for =D 7,702 59
The material related party transactions entered into by the AEEBRFANTINERBEELRZRR
Group during the year and the balances with related parties at EHMEHARHEBEL 2BNESRET W
the end of each reporting period are set out below. T e
(a) Names and relationships of the related parties that had (a) FAEAEEETEARZNEES

material transactions with the Group during the year: WEBRERE
Name of related party Relationship
BERER &
Cangzhou Chengyu Railway Company Limited* A company controlled by
(“Chengyu Company”) the controlling shareholder
CREMMRFHEREREEAA)
ENTREFHEAREETAT ( [BFLF]) HZERIRRZEHA AT
Shangcheng* (MM EHE BB R A 7)) An associate of the Group
BT EHEEERA R REBHNBE QR
Huanghua Port Xinghua Port Development Co., Ltd.* A company controlled by
(“Huanghua Port Xinghua Company”) the controlling shareholder
(ER B EERERBFRAA)
ERBEEBRABAMRAF" HERRRZEFHNAR
([E=RBEENT] )
Huanghua Port Jinghai Energy Industry Co., Ltd.* A company controlled by
(“Jinghai Energy”) the controlling shareholder
EREBRREXARAR)
ERBUBREREXABMRAT" ( [BRER] ) FH 22 PR AR SR I 49 12 B
Huanghua Railway Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.* A company controlled by a family member
(“Huanghua Railway Construction”) of the controlling shareholder
(EETHEIRERA) \
ERTHEIRBRAR ( [EEEE]) HERBRROKEHEZEFN AT
Cangzhou Bohai New Area Zhongcheng Gangwu A company controlled by family members
Development Cg., Ltd.* (“Zhongcheng Gangwu”) of the controlling shareholder
RNADEFERRBEARERAT) \
BNDEHERRBEHEBERLF ( [REBK] ) HEZERRR KRR EZEHIN QT

* The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The 5
English translation names are for identification purpose only. FEMEBRZA -
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(b) Key management personnel remuneration

(c)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

(b) TEEEAEHH

AEBMITEEBASHNEHM (BES
AR B EZHFE (M FE8FTK
BIRENBETHRSFMESNIR
(AP EEOPTIRER) ) A0 T -

2020 2019
20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Short-term employee benefits EHEERA 1,069 466

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see Note

FAESATEIRA I (RFE6(D)) °

6(b)).
Transactions with related parties during the year (c) FREBELETHRS
2020 2019
2020 2019%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®T T
Provision of rail freight transportation 12t & & 1B & B R 7%
and related ancillary services
- Huanghua Port Xinghua Company —EHHEBEENT - 135
- Shangcheng — 1 Bk 446 -
Purchases of construction services BEESERK
- Huanghua Railway Construction — R - 9
Purchases of loading and unloading BEEHRE
services
- Zhongcheng Gangwu — BB - 6,265
Short-term lease charges EHIEEWE
- Chengyu Company —BEFAT 10 8
Net decrease in amounts due from & Uk BAE 5 SR IE R A B
related parties
- Chengyu Company —BFAE - 132,276
Net decrease in amounts due to FE{SBBE 75 IR A F 8
related parties
- Jinghai Energy —ERER - (310)
REBEEERAR o 2020FFH 131



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

(d) Balances with related parties

(e)

(f)

132 Canggang Railway Limited e

The Group’s balances with related parties at the end of
each reporting period are as follows:

(d)

EEEL WA

REEREHREHRERBEL 2BH
BERINT ¢

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Payables for acquisitions of WEEFERAEEENEMNRIE
right-of-use assets
- Chengyu Company —BF AT - 8,032
Payables for short-term leases EHHEREMNRIE
- Chengyu Company —BFAE 1 8
Payables for construction services E R RSN RIE
- Huanghua Railway Construction — EEEEE - 1,200
Trade payables for purchases of BEEHHRBENE SRR
loading and unloading services
- Zhongcheng Gangwu — BB - 2,322
Other related party transactions (e) HMBEEIRS

On 12 August 2019, Chengyu Company has granted the
Group a gratuitous right to use its leasehold land for
operating the Group’s railway and rail yards for a period of
20 years. No rental was charged during the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected
transactions

The related party transactions in respect of short-
term lease (see Note 27(c)) and lease of leasehold land
(see Note 27(e)) constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing rules. However, those transactions are
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1)(a).

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

2020 2019
2020 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
K &E AR®T T AR®T T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries* R B A TIRE" 13 - -
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables FEARIEREM
FE U FRIE 17 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEHEER 184,527 -
184,544 -
Current liabilities REAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT R B A B FIE 5,664 448
Net current assets/(liabilities) ~~ #BAE (Rf) #E 178880 (448)
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE (8f\) RE 178,880 (448)
Capital and reserves EXRFHE 24
Share capital [N 8,607 -*
Reserves & 170,273 (448)
TOTAL EQUITY B 178,880 (448)

* Amounts less than RMB1,000

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

25 March 2021.

Liu Yongliang
2k =
Chairman

EE

* SHET 2 AKME1,000T

A2021E3R25ARESEH EREET

géo

Yi Weiming
KR4
Director

EE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHZH  UAREIT)

The COVID-19 outbreak since early 2020 has significantly
affected entities and economic activities globally and brought
additional uncertainty to the Group’s operating. The Group
had been closely monitoring the impact on the developments
on the Group’s businesses and had put in place contingency
measures, which includes assessing the impact on customers
and liaising with key customers, and developing more sales
channels. Up to the date of this report, management has not
identified any areas that could have a material impact on
the financial performance or position of the Group as at 31
December 2020.

Nevertheless, as COVID-19 continues to evolve, it is
challenging at this moment to predict the full extent and
duration of its impact to the business and the economy. The
Group will continue to take measures, including but not limited
to, controlling its operating costs, monitoring its cash flows,
paying close attention to the development of the COVID-19
to its operations and continuously assessing its impact to the
Group’s financial statements, adequately adjusting its business
plans, to protect the Group’s benefits and interests in this
challenging business environment and be well prepared for the
business opportunities.

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and the ultimate controlling party of the Company at 31
December 2020 to be Jinghai Group Investment Limited
(“Jinghai Group”) and Mr. Liu, respectively. Jinghai Group does
not produce financial statements available for public use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Up to the date of issue of the financial statements, the IASB
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2020 and which have not been adopted in these
consolidated financial statements.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BZHIN  UA RS T)

BEUBHRRTIZEE  RESELRE
E2CEMZENE E2020F12H831H
LEFEMARERBTERGEMBRERER
WEIEE] ~ AT ER R AR -

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
RUT BHs 2 BRI ST HIE A

Amendments to IFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
B PR B 7 3R 5 HE R S8 3SR RS RT [ HERAESC A2 41 |
Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
BIFR & 5T RIZE165R IV RT
(5% - BEREH - 1EHEE 2RI R TS+ 78 |
Amendments to IAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Rt ERIEITIRMNIER] [ FESK —EBITEAIHIEA ]
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
B PR B 5 3R 5 22 2018 F £ 2020 F B HAM F E E

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards and
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of these
amendments, new standards and interpretations are unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

1 January 2022

2022%181H
1 January 2022

2022%F1H1H
1 January 2022

2022%1H1H
1 January 2022
2022F1A1H

AEBEAEF RSB - M EA KRR
BREAERYENERSE 258
ik HRBWWZEEET - He] EARE
BIAAAUESHG SV BBRREREAY
@,
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FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FHMBRRE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017
20204 2019%F 20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTR AR®TR AR®TR

Revenue e &= 361,474 376,904 386,889 354,343
Operating profit SRR 116,815 119,088 131,351 131,569
Profit before taxation BR T A &= A 89,729 94,251 109,298 107,589
Income tax expense FriEBiE % (25,174) (24,755) (27,791) (27,228)
Profit and total comprehensive  FEEMKRZME

income for the year U= 8 58 64,555 69,496 81,507 80,361

As at 31 December

A12831H
2020 2019 2018 2017
20204 2019%F 20185 20178

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR®TRT ARB®TRT ARBTR

Total assets HWEE 1,318,926 1,195,892 1,339,483 1,188,216

Total liabilities FES=RE 549,338 675,907 539,614 474,754

Total equity e 769,588 579,985 799,869 713,462

1. The results and assets and liabilities of the Group for 2017 1. AREEA2017ER201SENEEREE
and 2018 are extracted from the Company’s prospectus on MEBEFEEBE AN T HEA2020510
23 October 2020. No financial statement of the Group for the B23EWMIBRER - AEBTETIEEHE
year ended 31 December 2016 has been published. Therefore, 2016F12A31B L EFENB B R K -
only the financial summary for the last four financial years is WEZIBENEGTHRFENTERE -
presented.

2. The summary above does not form part of the audited 2. LHBFEWFEREERESTBBREN
consolidated financial statements. — I o
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